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1.0 1827-33: New Norfolk Invalid Barracks and the new Hospital

The first provision for the care of the sick in Tasmania consisted of scattered invalid
barracks and depots, administered by the Crown for the care of the convicts under its
control}. The scattered geographical location of these, their small size, a lack of medical
staff and high rates ol illness among a convict population which was also scattered in
many small settlements, led Governor Arthur to issue the following Memorandum on 2
April 18272,

1 have reason to think that the invalids supported by the crown have very little care
taken of them, and it is necessary that the establishment should be placed
altogether on a better footing.

To this end . . . give instructions to the Principle Supt. that they may be
forthwith sent to New Norfolk where [ am of the opinion they may bé comfortably
lodged, and taken care of at a very trifling expense . . .

The medical care of these people may be confided to Dr Officer, Disiriet
Surgeon . . . Let an intimation be made to the Police magistrate of New Norfolk
who wi]l countersign any requisitions for clothing or comforts for the people, and
who will from time to time inspect the invalid‘barrack and report on it. He will also
consider and direct what labour may be performed by the invalids who should on no

account be suffered to be unemployed

The last sentence of Governor Arthur’'s Memo. indicates that, even though the people at
New Norfolk were invalids, the.colonial administration was not prepared to maintain the
barracks there purely as achantable institution. This economic rationalist approach to the
management of the tmfortunates at New Norfolk on the part of the colonial
administration, was o characlerise the entire history of the institution.

The barracks that 1s referred to in the Memo. was originally built to house sick and
invalid convicts [rom nearby road gangs, or those who were assigned servants in the
area. The date of its construction and its precise location are not known, but it is likely to
have been in existence by at least the early 1820s. In a letter to the Colonial Secretary Mr
J Burnett, dated 25 November 18283, Dr Officer complains of the “dilapidated state” of
the buildings, suggesting they were already of some antiquity by that date.

1 Gowland, R. \V. 1981 Troubled Asylum. The History of the Royal Derwent Hospital. New Norfolk,
Tasmania. p. 1.

2 CS0 1/183/1838,

3 ibid.
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A second Memorandum issued by Governor Arthur on 11 May4, indicates that his
earlier Memo. was intended to apply to free invalids of the colony, as well as convicts,
when he orders,

. .. first let the persons, whether free or prisoner, who are now in the invalid house
[in Hobart] be removed to New Norfolk - the let those who come within the same
class in the penitentiary be the next removed - then let any of those invalids being
prisoners, who are living in an objectionable manner, be removed to the same
establishment as Lheir cases become properly known to the Government through the

Police.

The intent of the two Memos then, was to establish the invalid barracks at New Norfolk
as a receiving house lor all invalids in the colony, where they could be'cared for more
effectively, and no doubt more economically, by the colonial admifiistration. While its
intent was worthy, this scheme quickly proved far too ambitious for the barracks at New
Norfolk. Far from the invalids being “comfortably lodged”, DrOfficer’s letter to the
Colonial Secretary ol 25 November describes miserableconditions,

The prevailing diseases in this establishment ¢onsist of chronic rheumatism,
paralysis, affections of the eyes and joints and I might say how absolutely necessary
a comfortable hahitation is for such cases. Many of them have been greatly
aggravated by the wrelched conditions.of the hovels they inhabit, and though
several of them are far from being hopeless, little attempt can at present be made to
attempt a cure.

The barracks; as you are aware, consist of two apartments, which during
the rain are inundated both from above and below, in which cooking, washing, and
all other necégsary operations are performed, and in which the patients are huddled
together without regard to moral or physical discrepancy.

Many ol the patients are well disposed men, while others are remarkable
for opposite qualities, and it would therefore be much desirable in every point of
view, to possess some means ol classification.

Al present every attempt at reforination or improvement, whether in minds
or bodies of thase wretched men is utterly vain and hopeless. I beg leave therefore,
in the strongest manner, to urge the erection of a better barrack, and as you must be
well acquainted with the accuracy of the representation [ have made, I trust your

cordial recommendation to the Governor will not be wanting.

4 ibid.
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Dr Officer’s letter describes the barracks as a place where invalids were simply sent to be
housed, with little or no facilities for actually treating their illnesses. Moreover, the poor
quality of the housing was such that it materially contributed to a decline in the condition
of many of the invalids sent there. Dr Officer indicates that the Colonial Secretary had
first-hand experience of the conditions he describes, and it must have been his
representations based on this knowledge that prompted Governor Arthur to action. A
letter from the New Norfolk Police Magistrate, Mr W. Hamilton, to the Colonial
Secretary dated 17 December 18285, conveys a plan for a new hospital, drawn up by
himself and Dr Officer in response to a request from the Colonial Secretary,

In conformity with the direction conveyed to me in your letter of the 28th ultimo, I
transinit for the consideration of the Lieut. Governor, the accompanying plan of the
hospital for sixty convict invalids - which also comprises accommodation for ten
lunatics, and for the probable number of occasional patients, that may be réceived
from the public works within the district, and from the service of settlers.

In the proposed building I have given all possible‘attedtion to economy in
its structure, and convenience in its arrangement; the latter has met the approval of
the medical superintendant. The residence for that officer is laid down on as small a
scale as is (in my humble judgement) compatible wvith ordinary comfort.

The situation | would recommend for the site of the hospital, as affording
shelter, dry ground, proximity to firewood and good water, is to be found adjoining
the parsonnage - the paling fence of which could be made available for two sides of
the hospital enclosure. The spacg-referred to would be about 6 acres. A sketch of the

ground shall be forwarded, as sooli as T can obtain it from the survey office.

Unfortunately, the sketch of the new hospital building has not survived. However, the
sketch showing the proposed location of the new building has (Fig. 1). The building itself
is shown as a U «ghaped structure, with its base aligned on a northeast - southwest axis.
The protrusion attached to the northeastern arm is presumed to be the medical
superintendant’s residence.

The response of Governor Arthur to the proposal comes in a letter dated 9 January 1829,
instructing the Colonial Secretary to notify the Colonial Architect, Mr John Lee Archer,
to commence construction *. . . as early as possible . . ."6. Before construction could

S ibid,
6 ibid.



Figure 1: Initial location plan for the new hospital building at New Norfolk submitted to
the Colonial Secretary by Dr Officer and the New Norfolk Police Magistrate on 17
December 1828 (Archives Office of Tasmania CSO 1/83/1838).



begin, however, a detailed design of the building had to be prepared. This was not
completed until 18 December, 18297.

Although, in a letter dated the 10th of January 18308, Governor Arthur had instructed
Archer to begin construction of the new invalid hospital in that month and to have the
building finished by the end of that summer, the project was again delayed when Dr
Officer decided on a different location to that originally proposed. In a letter to the Police
Magistrate, Mr Hamilton, dated 29 January 18309, Dr Officer recommended a new site
on the opposite (southeast) side of Burneit Street. This land hac{ previously been owned
by My Hamilton, but had become vacant. A location sketch accompanying Dr Officer’'s
letter shows the proposed hospital in its present location (Fig. 2). Further delays duetoa
lack of labourers and materials meant that by March 1830 the new hospital was still not
complete, prompting the Colonial Secretary, in a letter dated the 27th 6f that month10, to
express his dissatisfaction to Archer that Governor Arthur's completion date would not
be met. Presumably it had been finished by 1833, as a sketch of the completed building
was published in the Hobart Town Magazine that yearll (Plate 1).

The construction of the new invalid hospital at New Norfolk had not solved all of
Governor Arthur's problems in providing for the care of the sick in the colony, however.
There still remained the problem of the many mentally ill patients scattered around the
colony. As early as 1831, Arthur must have contemplated housing these at New Norfolk
also. John Archer wrote to Arthur on 18 June 183112, endorsing a plan for buildings to
house insane patients at New Norfolk submitted to him by Dr Officer.

The report of a Board ofInquiry to convened to consider “the best means of giving
medical assistance 10 paupers ({ree persons) who are sick or insane; as well as to report
on the present state ol 'maniacs generally”, presented to Governor Arthur on 21
November 183113, also favoured expansion of the newly built hospital at New Norfolk
as a solution Lo the problem,

7 ibid.

8 ibid.

9 ibid.

10 ibid.

L1 Hobart Town Muagazine, December 1833,
12 £s0 1/83/1838.

13 cso 1/382/13172.
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Figure 2: The revised location plun lor the new hespital, showing the building in its
present location (Archives Ollice ol Tasmania CSO 1/83/1838).
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It has come to the knowledge of the Board that these, last mentioned unfortunate
creatures, have now become a public nuisance, from the manoer in which they are
allowed to roam at large . . .

The Board have inspected the place allotted for the reception of these
patients at the Colonial Hospital in Hobarton, and have called on the Colonial
Surgeon for a return of the number of maniacs at present accommodated, his means
of accommodation, and the average number of maniacs yearly; and are of the
opinion that it is most inadequate for the purpose. Being small, confined and
insecure, and the maniacs in it being allowed to mingle indiscriminately with all the
other patients in the hospital. The Board therefore most strongly recommend . . . that
a suitable building be erected, and they do not know of any place better adapted for
such an establishment than new Norfolk, adjoining the invalid hospital.

The building should be sufficiently large and well enclosed to/allow the
lunatics being kept under that restraint and moral discipline which ean allow their
comfort and security, or hold out a prospect of their being ultimately cured.

In reference to the mode of giving medical assistanee to free persons too
poor to pay for it, the Board for the present can only offer the following
recommendation viz:

1. That no free pauper be admitted into ant of the colonial hospitals unless
a physician or surgeon certify that the staté of the patient’s disease absolutely
requires hospital treatment, and the cléergyman of the district state that he or she is
really an object ol charity and quite upable to pay for assistance.

2. That no free person be supplied with medicines from the colonial
hospitals (as outdoor patients)-unless on production of a certificate from the

clergyman to the above effect.

The last portion of this report indicates that, when the purpose of the establishment at
New Norfolk had been expanded to care for free persons as well as convicts by Arthur’s
edicts in 1827, they had been made to pay for itif at all possible. Exemption from this
rule was to be granled only in the most deserving of cases, and it was to be strictly
policed.

Despite a representation from the Colonial Surgeon Dr Scott, to the Colonial Secretary on
7 February 183214, that a lunatic asylum would be better situated closer to the main
population centre ol the colony in Hobart, the addition of an asylum to the invalid
hospital at New Norlolk went ahead in 1833. However, construction proceeded slowly

14 cs0 1/83/1838.



and on 27 April 183315, Governor Arthur instructed the Colonial Secretary to drafta
letter to John Archer in the following terms,

On visiting New Norfolk on the 11th instant and finding the progress of the building
by no means to answer my expectation I found, on reference to Dr Officer, the
Assistant Surgeon that the delay proceeded from the want of materials.

That officer stated to me that from want of imber the madhouse remained
unroofed, which might otherwise have been covered. That the shingler and plasterer
had both been idle for want of nails for many weeks. That the do;ars could not be

hung for want of hinges . .

This lack of building materials in the Government stores was such that Archer was
forced write to the Colonial Secretary in June 183316 to request permission to let private
contracts for their supply.

Governor Arthur’s dissatisfaction at the slow progress of construction of the asylum
caused him to send a Memorandum to the Colonial Secrétary on 19 October 183317,
directing him to set up a board of enquiry into,

.. . the state of the premises, the general apd particular accommodation afforded and
their adaptation to the general purposes of ‘the institution - ventilation ete., etc., - and
especially whether the portion of the'building set apart for the insane patients is
quite secure in every respect; - the number of invalids the establishment may be
capable ol containing - the manner in which it has been, and is, conducted, and the

fitness of the subordinate officers for performing the duties entrusted to them , . .

The report of the board ‘was presented to Governor Arthur on 24 October 183318, Its
general finding was that,

The situation of the building appears to be the best that could have been selected in
the township, and the quanuty of ground atlached to it, within its insulated situation,
being bound on all sides by the street, will prevent it ever being encroached upon by
other buildings: the particular appropnation of the hospital grounds, consisting of

about eleven acres, ol which the board entirely approve is shown in the
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accompanying plan, in which the dimensions of the wards and other apartments are

also exhibited.

The board reported in more detail on other aspects of the establishment under a series of
sub-headings. In summary, their findings were,

General Plan
The Board much approves of the general plan of the hospital, as combining in a great

degree the various qualities requisite in an establishment of this nature.

Veatilation ete.
The wards are lofty, and commodious, but the plan adopted for their artificial

ventilation appears to be very inefficient.

Supply of Walter

On inquiring into the mode in which the establislhment is supplied with water, the
Board lound great deficiency in this most essential point, The water obtained from
the well which has been sunk in the hospital yard is of & very bad quality, and is
from its great depth, procured with so much labour and difficulty, that it is of little
benefit to the establishment. On considering this important subject, the Board were
led to inguire into the pracucability ol banging a stream of water into the premises
from the adjoining streamlet . . . and they are decidedly of the opinion, that this most
desirable object could be affected with great facility, and at very moderate

expense . - .

Privies and Common Sewer
Among the many advantages . . . attending the introduction of a stream of water into
the establishnient, not the least will be the lacility which it will afford of cleaning

the sewers, and privies, which are at present in a very defective state.

Extent and Nature of Accommedation

The portion ol the building appropriated for the reception of male invalids and
patients, contains 8 large wards and several small rooms, affording most comfortable
accommodation for about 110 patients. These wards have no communication with
each other, but open directly into the common court by which advantages of order
and pure air are efficaciously obtained. This arrngement appears to the Board
however 1o render the erection of a verandah necessary in tius part of the building, by
which patients would be enabled to take exercise in wet weather and protection

would be aflorded rom the oppressive heat of the sun in summer.
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Kitchen ete.

The Board much approves the plan of the public Kitchen, wash house and store room.

Dispensary
The dispensary is inconveniently small, and the Board suggests to the engineer a
different arrangement, of easy accomplishment, by which this inconvenience would

be removed.

Dead House
The room originally set apart as a dead house is totally unfit for the purpose and the
Board recommend that a much larger and better lighted apartment should be

provided for this purpose.

Female Patients
The ward for the receplion of females affords excellent accommodation for about 20
patients, and the Board much approves of the arrangement-by which all

commumnicaltion between the sexes is effectively guarded against,

Insane Asylum

The whole plan and construction of the Jugati¢ asylum the Board most fully approves
of, in which every attention is shown to'the secunty as well as the comfort of the
unfortunate inmates, both male and female. The separation of the sexes of that
unhappy class is very effectual, and the apartments and yards of both are overlooked
by the windows of the Superintendant and Matron’s quarters.

The airing grounds attached Lo cach are spacious and convenient, but they
will be totally unavailable, until surrounded by a high wall, as shown in the
accompanying.plan, the immediate erection of which, the Board most strongly
recomime nds.

The asylum will afford ample accommodation for 40 patients of each sex.
The whole establishment 1s therefore capable of containing the undermentioned
numbery of the different classes of patients:

[Hospital | 110 male patients 20 female ditto.

[Asylum] 40 male lunatics 40 female ditio.

Mode in which the Institution is Conducted

A copy of the regulation for the government ol the establishunent was submitted to
the Board by the Assistunt Surgeon in charge of the establishment, which met with
their entire approbation, and the Board had much reason to commend the clean and

ordinary slite ol every part of the premises.



Superintendant and Matron
The olfices of Superintendant and Matron, so arduous and responsible in an
establishment of this kind, the Board have every reason to believe they are

effectively filled by their present occupiers . .

Inferior Servants
With the exception of the Superintendant and matron, no other free person is
attached to the establishment, all the inferior duties being performed by convicts . . .
but the Board are of the opinion that assistance of a more respectable and
responsible nature will soon be required, the establishment being already large, and
likely 1o be much increased.

The duties of Wardsmen, Washermen, Cooks ete., are satisfactorily
performed by convicts, the greater part of whom the Board found to be labouring
under some chronic disease, or bodily imperfection, which would have unfitted them

for more laborious work.

Clerk
The services ol a competent Clerk appear to be urgently wanted in the

establishment . . .

Chapel

The Chaplin of the district appears to pay much attention to the religious instruction
of the inmates of the institutionybut the want of a roomn sulficientdy capacious for
assembling them at Divine Worship is much felt. The Board therefore, think it

desirable and recommend that a small chapel should be erected on the premises.

Muster ol Patients
The Board inade a very particular muster and examination of al] the patients, and
invalids cte., in order to ascertain whether any of them were now able to obtain a

livelihood: but were only able to order the discharge of one or two persons.

Number of Persons at Present in the Instituton
The number of persons at present in the institution, the Board found to be as follows:-
Male invalids and patients
Female ditto
Male lunatics
Female ditto

Bl & &
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Wardsmen, nurses

Washermen etc.

s =

In concluding their report, the Board cannot refrain from expressing their opinion of
the great public utility of the institution, and of the necessity which existed for such

an establishment in the colony.

Unfortunately the plan accompanying the Board’s report has not survived. However, a
survey map ol the township of New Norfolk dated 15 May 1833 (Fig. 3), shows the
hospital and asylum complex and its associated land. The extent of the asylum building
shown on this map does not match that shown on Archer’s plan for its construction
(Fig. 4); the two wings extending from the quadrangle on Archer’s plan'mot being shown
on the survey map. Construction of these had obviously not begun by May 1833. The
report of the Board of Inquiry also notes the absence of verandahs around the internal
walls of the hospital, high walls around the exercise yards outside the complex and a
chapel, all shown on Archer’s plan but again not vet construcied.

Archer’s final design for the hospital and asylum eomplex had expanded considerably
from the original U - shaped proposal of Dr Officer and Mr Hamilton. It now included a
quadrangular asvlum complex attached to the réar of the original U - shaped hospital,
intended lo house lunatic patients, with two further wings extending from this. The
asylum complex was divided dowirits-northwest - southeast axis, and one half each
given to the use of male and female patients respectively. This is the first indication that
the new institution at New Norfolk was to cater for female, as well as male patients. All
patients at the old barracks at New Norfolk had been male. The two large, internal
courtyards ol the new.complex were to serve as exercise yards, again divided for male
and female patients, [n addition more exercise vards were arranged along the external
walls of the complex. Provision was made in the hospital section for a surgery,
dispensary, store, kitchen, wash-house, mortuary, olfices and overseer's rooms. Privies
were located in the exercise yards. Verandahs extended around the internal walls of the U
- shaped hospilal building.

In the asylum section, most of the communal wurds were sub-divided into smaller cells.
Provision was also made for two stores, (wo Kitchens, superintendant’s quarters, a wash-
house and a chapel. Privies were again located in the exercise yards.

Archer’s design must have benefited signilicuntly from the medical input of Dr Officer.
It foreshadows 1n several important respects standards for such buildings that were
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Figure 4: Colontal Architect John Lee Archer's plans for the new hospital and asylum
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advocated in a treatise on the care of the insane published in 1847 by a distinguished
English physician, Dr John Connolly?. Connolly advocated a standardised design for
asylum and hospital buildings29,

... securily does not require gloom or a frightful apparatus. We recognise that the
building should be on a healthy site, freely admitting light and air, and drained
space should be allowed for summer and winter exercise, for various employments,
and for all the purposes of domestic economy. Warmth must be provided for during
the winter, light for the winter evenings, coolness and shade in the summer.
Separale wards and bed-rooms for the tranquil, for the sick, for the helpless, for the
noisy, lor the uaruly, or violent, and the dirty; a supply of water so copius, and a
drainage so complete, that the baths, water closets, and building in general, may
always be kept perfectly clean and {ree from bad odours. There should be werkshops
and workrooms, and schoolrooms, separate from the wards, and cheerfully sitated;
a chapel, conveniently accessible from both sides of the asylum; as also a kitchen,
a laundry, a bakehouse, a brewhouse, and rooms for stores; and all the requisites for
gardening and farming; and also a surgery. and all that is necessary for the medical
staff, All these are indispensable in every large publicasylum . . .

The more experience | have of the duties to be performed in a lunatic
asylum, the more sirongly | become impressed with the inconveniences attending
any part of the building consisting of more than two storeys . . .

Aniong the various forms of asylums adopted by architects, I believe there
is none so convenient as onedn which the main part of the building is in one line;
the residence of the chief physician being in the centre . . . To this main line, wings
of moderale extent being added at right angles in each direction. The building
assumes whal is ealled the H form . _ .

A publi¢ asylum is ordinarily a senies of galleries out of which almost all
of the bedrooms open on one side . . .

The galleries should be light and cheerful . . . the windows should be low
and large . . .

AL least 2/3 of the patients should have single rooms and dormitories
shouldn’t contain more than 4 or 5 beds . . .

Rooms should be well ventilated with windows and skylights and warmed

by prped stecam under floors . . .

19 Connoll ¥, ). 1847, The Construction and Government of Lunatic Asylums and Hospitals for the
Insane. John Churchill, Londen,
20 ibid., pp. 8-3 |
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Together with these standards, a comparison of a standardised ‘Linear’ plan for lunatic
asylums produced by Connolly (Fig. 5) with Archer’s design for the New Norfolk
Asylum shows that, while Archer’s design scored well on Connolly's standards of site
choice, basic building design, provision of exercise yards, chapel, kitchens and bath-
houses and classification of patients, Connolly would not have approved of the lack of
separate eating rooms [or the patients, the lack of laundry facilities, the paved exercise
yards with high walls, the small, high windows in the wards and a lack of provision for
workshops in which the patients could be occupied. While an assessment of the design
of the New Norfolk Asylum according to standards which weren't published until
almost 20 years later may seem unfair, the surprising degree to which Archer and Dr
Officer’s design conforms to those standards suggest that Connolly was writing of
principles which had been established or known for some time prior to his publication.
On the whole, despite some notable exceptions perhaps derived from the fact that most
of the patients at New Norfolk were still convicts under sentence and the-Colonial
Administration had a tight budget and limited resources, Archer’s'design for the New
Norfolk Asylum was well-considered for the humane treatment of invalids and mental
patients.

Archer had already had an opportunity Lo test some of the ideas used in the design of the
New Norfolk Asylum in his design for the conversion of Lowe’s Distillery in Hobart
into a House of Correction for females, in 182721, later to become the Cascades Lunatic
Asylum. Both designs followed an appreach of sleeping rooms arranged the inside of a
blank wall, forming a central courtyardfrom which they were entered and lit. Most
convict barracks or penitentiariés il Tasmania followed this basic planZ2, which was
based on the common form of English institutional buildings in the 19th century23. The
only major differencebetween this approach and Conolly’s ‘Linear’ design for asylums
was Conolly’s additien ol an internal passageway, which Governor Arthur would
probably have considered an unnecessary expense. The function of such a passageway
was later assumed with the addition of verandahs to Archer’s design in any case.

New Norfolk was the first custom-built lunatic asylum in the Australian colonies. The
only other comparable building of early 19th-century date was the asylum erected at
Tarban Creek, on the Parramatta River near Sydney, in 1835-3824. This was designed by

21 Kerr, J.S. 1984, Design for Convicis: An Account of Design for Convict Establishments in the
Australian Colonies During the Transportation Era. Nutional Trust of Australia (NSW) & Australian
Society for Historical Archaeology, Sydney. pp. 67-8.

22 ibid,, p. 70.

23 ibid,, p. 33.

24 Kemr, 1.8, 1988. Owr of Sight, Out of Mind: Australia’s Places of confinement, 1788-1988. 8. H.
Ervin Gallery & Natonal Trust of Australia (NSW), Sydney. pp. 35-6,
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Figure 5: Standardised ‘Linear’” design [or lunatic asylums recommended by the English
physician Dr Connolly in 1847 (Connolly 1847: Appendices). The basic design and

layout of Archer's asylum at New Norfolk bears some strong similarities to Connolly’s

plan in utilising a basic H- shape, with linear wings enclosing exercise yards.
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Governor Bourke's Colonial Architect, Mortimer Lewis, with the assistance of a
publication by Englishman Samuel Tukes entitled Hints on the Construction of Pauper
Lunatic Asylums. Tukes' publication must also have been consulted by Conolly, because
the design of the asylum at Tarban Creek follows the same, basic H - shape as Conolly’s
standardised ‘Linear’ design and the asylum at New Norfolk, with wards arranged
around the inside walls of courtyards (Fig. 6). This basic approach to design was again
followed for a small asylum built at Yarra Bend, in Victoria, in 184825, while plans for
asylums built in the 1860s at Kew, near Melbourne, and Beechworth and Ararat in
Victoria, were almost identical to Conolly’s standardised design2©. The fact that these no
longer had to serve as prisons for convicts, may have allowed greater freedom to put into
practice Conolly’s ideas.

Despite the new buildings, and the generally good report of the Board of Inquiry
conducted in 1833, Dr Officer was not without significant problems.in running the new
establishment. His main difficulty was obtaining suitable and reliable staff. As early as 9
August 183027, he wrote to the Colonial Secretary informing him that he had to dismiss
his convict overseer for misconduct, and on 26 November.of that same year a similar
letter informed the Colonial Secretary that the replacement overseer, another convict, had
also been dismissed for the same offence?8, Dr Officer later informed the Colonial
Secretary on 13 December 183129, that the sé¢ond replacement, again a conviet, had
lasted only slightly longer before receiving his discharge for misconduct. The crimes of
the first two are not recorded, but that of the third was embezzlement of wine from the
stores. In view of the demonstrated upsuitability of appointing convicts to work in the
hospital, Dr OlTicer strongly argued, after the third dismissal, for the appointment of a
free overseer and matron. On 2 December 183130, Governor Arthur communicated to
Dr Officer’s superior, the-Colonial Surgeon Dr Scott, that he considered this an
“unnecessary expense”, however, and convicts continued to be appointed until 1833,
when the report ol the Board of Inquiry conducted in that year notes that the
Superintendant and matron were (ree persons.

25 ibid., p. 83.

26 ibid.

27 €SO 1/83 1838,
28 ibid.

29 ibid.

30 ibid.
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Dr Officer also experienced a lack of support form the colonial administration in
obtaining suitable equipment for the invalids in his care. A request for 50 iron bedsteads
lodged with the Commissariat on 8 December 183031, had to wait until 17 August
183132, for a letter from the Commissariat to the Colonial Secretary informing him that
they could be supplied. A further six-month delay in a request for iron bedsteads made in
July 1833, required a letter from Dr Officer to the Colonial Surgeon on 31 December33
of that year informing him that many patients were sleeping on the floor, to spur the

Commissariat into action.

2.0 1833-55: Hospital to Asylum

The year 1833 marked the completion of the first major construction phase of the New
Norfolk Asyvlum. Thereafter, until a transfer in administrative contr¢l of the asylum in
1855 from the Crown to the newly formed Parliament of Tasmania, the only
construction evenls were minor ones, and the history of the asylum centres around its
changing patient population and administrative matters.

One such minor construction episode was an overhaul of the drainage system in 1834. A
letter from the New Norfolk Police Magistrate'Mr E. Dumeresq, dated 10 January
183434, draws the attention of the Colonial Secretary (o the fact that waste from the
establishment was polluting the supply.ol fresh water for the township, which was
drawn from the nearby Lachlan Rivuletl. To remedy this problem John Archer suggested
in a letter to the Colonial Secrétary on 26 February35 that an underground brick barrel
drain be constructed in a straight line [rom the asylum to the corner of George and
Burmnett Streets (see Fig, 3), and thence in a straight line to discharge into the Derwent
River. This drain was'still in use in 1888, when a review of the drainage system of the
asylum was conducted by the Colonial Engineer Mr A. Mault, to address recurring
typhoid outbreaks36, and is shown on a plan accompanying his report (Fig. 7). Mault
describes the drain as “about half a mile long, and . . . about 26 feet deep where it crosses

High Street”. It is still in use as a stormwater drain.

31 ibid.
32 jhia.
33 ibid.
34@
S ibid.
36 1.C/HA PP No. 150, 1888,
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In some ol the official correspondence relating to the solution of the sewerage problems
at the asylum, mention is also made by the Colonial Secretary, Mr Burnett, of a cottage
called ‘Frescatii’ that he was constructing on an allotment of land belonging to him,
adjacent to the asylum, in 1834 (see Fig. 3). This block of land was that first proposed by
Dr Officer [or the location of the new hospital building in 1829 (see Fig. 1). ‘Frescatti’
was thus built close to the first location proposed for the new hospital. The cottage was
later to be taken over by the asylum and served for a long period as the residence of the
Medical Superintendant.

On the administrative front, rapidly rising admissions, shown to have risen from 109 in
1833 1o 136 in a report dated 16 June 1834, from Dr Officer to the Colonial Secretary37,
prompted Governor Arthur to issue a notice on 8 July 183438 (o the effect that,

... inno case | for the future, can free persons be gratuitously received into-any of
the colonial hospitals, unless in cases of extreme poverty, when it will be
indispensably necessary to obtain, by a written apphication to the Colonial Secretary,
the express sanction of the Government for admission of the applicant, who must
also transmit a certificate from a Clergyman or a Magistrate of the Parish in which

he may reside, of his being in a state of destitution, and an object of charity.

Despite this effort to tighten entry restrietionsinto the asylum with a third administrative
hurdle, the number of patients at New Norfolk continued to climb rapidly. By 12 May
1836 a letter [rom the Colonial Sirgeon, Dr Scott, to the Colonial Secretary3? puts the
asylum population at 300, and conveys a request from Dr Officer for an Assistant
Surgeon to help him in running the establishmenl. In an institution designed to house 210
patients, this number of patients must have strained resources to the limit. On 27 June
183640, Dr Officer reported to the Colonial Surgeon that,

[ feel it my duly to call the attention of the Government to the crowded state of the
hospital . . .
In the lunatic asylum in particular the means of observing a proper

classificauion of the unfortunate inmates is loudly called for. At present, as you are

37 CSO 1 83 1838,
38 ibid.

39 ibid.

40 cso 1/811 17340
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aware, these unfortunate people are all crowded and mixed together without the least
regard 1o the nature of their malady, or their varied constitution of mind, and I need
not say that under such circumstances, the chance of recovery is greatly lessened,

and their domestic comforts . . . sadly diminished.

A further report by the new Colonial Surgeon, Dr John Arthur, to the Colonial Secretary
on 3 October 1836+1, echoed Dr Officer’s concerns in greater detail,

. while | have much to commend in the form and construction of the building, as
well calculated for the purpose intended, that perhaps some little alterations for the
sake of a more thorough air draft through, and better ventilation of, the apartments;
and [or the spaciousness of the ground enclosed, if turned to a good account and
properly employed. | must add that there are a much greater number of persons in 1t
than can be properly accommodated, that in consequence it is crowded to-great
excess, in some wards the invalids lying with their beds spread on the floor as
closely packed as they can be placed, there being one bedstead for, I think, only
half; nor anything like a sufficiency of the other necessary furniture or utensils, such
as tables, forms, etc., ete., to render them comfortable.

There seemed a great want of classification and arrangement . . . there
appears (o be a greal intermixture, The provisions for food . . . were good, but not
well cooked,

The medical treatment . . ;I had in great measure lo approve, and [ am
glad to add that the lunatics appeared to be humanely treated . . . 1 perceived but one

. ancler restraumt . . . [ haye therelore Lo recommend that means should be taken for
thinning the hospital by Jimiting it to the reception of the casual sick of patients
requiring hospital treatment, of all invalids needing constant medical attendance and
of confirmed lunatics . . . that there be a better classification and arrangement . . .
and more espeetally the Tever cases be put by themselves . . .

Being of the opinion that it would be of service to the lunatics as well as
others in the hospital, to have some employment and that they might be usefully
emploved in tilling the ground . . . 1 would advise that vegetables for the use of the
hospital be raised by their means . . . and cows be grazed . - . to furnish it with

milk . ..

The recommendation in this report regarding gardening and animal husbandry is the first
mention ol any economie use being made of the large area of land occupied by the
institution, which at this lime amounied to about 11 acres. This part of Dr Scott’s report

41 c30 3211 3272
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was no doubl received favourably by the colonial administration, ever anxious that the
asylum should not be too large a drain on a very limited public purse. In time the farm
was to become an important part of the asylum, providing many of its inmates with a
valuable recreational outlet and allowing the asylum to become self-sufficient in many of

its basic foodstufts.

The problem of acute overcrowding stressed in the reports ol Dr Officer and Dr Scott
was less easily resolved, however. Mr Burnett’s successor as Colonial Secretary, Mr
Montague, wrote to Dr Officer on 26 December 183672, to suggest that some of the
patients nol requiring constant medical attention could be moved to some empty convict
road gang huls at nearby Sorell Creek. In reply on 27 December*3, Dr Officer endorsed
the transfer ol 136 convalescent patients to the huts at Sorell Creek, but stressed that this
could only be considered a temporary measure until a more permanent solution was
found, as the poor condition of the huts would not be conducive o the long term health
or recovery ol invalid patients. Such had proved to be the case when the patients were
ordered to be transferred in that same year to another road-station at Jerusalem (now
Colebrook) by the Colonial Surgeon, Dr Arthur+4, Thisalso proved unsatisfactory, and
they were eventually transferred back to New Norfolkin 183945, The overcrowding
problem at New Norfolk thus still remained.

The more permanent solution to acute &vercrowding at the asylum was not to be found
with Dr Ollicer in charge. He retired from his post at New Norfolk in 1838 to take up a
post as Inspector of the Colonial and Convict Medical Department, and was succeeded
by Dr C. G. Casey, with Dr MaeDowell as his Assistant Medical Officer*®. It was they
who oversaw' the constrietion of a new wing lo house [emale lunatic patients in 1840-
4147, This wing ntust have been that shown extending from the ‘female’ side of the
quadrangular asylum complex on Archer’s original plan for the addition of the asylum to
the hospital (see Fig. 4). The plan of the hospital and asylum on the 1833 survey map of
New Norlolk depicting the asylum section as only a quadrangle (see Fig. 3) indicates that
construction ol the asylum in 1833 had apparently stopped short of the addition of the
two wings (o the asylum building shown in Archer’s plan. According to a letter from the
Colonial Engineer” Office to the Colonial Secretary on 19 October 183948, estimates for
the construction of this new wing had been prepared as early as 1836, but it took until

42 Cs0 11811/ 17340.
43 ibid.

44 50 2261 308,
45 ibid.

46 cs0 5211 5272
47 €S0 5/257/6706.
48 cso 5/211 5272,
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1839 for them to be approved by the parsimonious Treasury Department. A report on the
establishment at New Norfolk by Dr Arthur on 30 June 184249, mentions that
construction was underway on another wing for the asylum to house 80 patients. Itis
likely that this was the wing extending from the ‘male’ side of the asylum quadrangle on
Archer’s plan.

By 1842 Dr MucDowell had resigned as Assistant Medical Officer at the asylum, to be
succeeded by Dr F. Brock30. A second Assistant Medical Officer, Dr J. Meyer, was
appointed in 1845, to cope with steadily increasing admissions, In 1846 Dr Casey moved
on to the office of Colonial Surgeon, and control of the asylum passed to Dr Meyer.

Despite the addition of the two new wings to relieve overcrowding in the asylum in
1840-42, conditions must still have been [ar from ideal for the patients’housed there. This
is borne out by a report of a riot amongst the inmates carried in the-Hebart Town
Advertiser in 184551,

On Sunday last the township of New Norfolk was put in.a stale of great alarm in
consequence of a report being circulated that the inmates of the lunatic asylum were
in a state of rebellion and insubordination. Oninquiry we learn that the District
Constable was applied to for the aid of the Police Force to quiet the same. On arrival
they found one of the wards completely.irthe possession of the lunatics, who were
armed with sticks, missiles and weapons of various kinds, and they threatened
destruction to every person who attempted to enter the ward . . . We leamn that great
damage has been done to the building . . . The cause has been attnbuted to some

misunderstanding havire originated as to the regulations of the establishment,

The reporter ol the 'Colonial Times, in his description of the same incident32, was less
reticent on the catises of the nol, describing [riction between the patients and Dr Brock,
who was said to be . . . universally hated by the inmates in the establishment.” The
Colonial Times had carried a long editorial earlier in 184553 | that had been highly critical
of the administrators of the hospital, and had advocated the appointment of independent
inspectors Lo oversee its operation. The riot was seen as vindicating these criticisms.

49 €50 22.61.308.

30 Gowland op. cit.. p, 34.

51 Hobart Town Advertiser 25 & 29 April, 1845.
52 Colonial Tines 29 April (1845,

53 ibid., + January, 1843,
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A further stream of criticism was directed at the asylum by the editor of the Colonial
Times in 18475+. This moslly took the form of a very strongly worded attack on the
integrity of those in charge of the establishment. Allegations were also made of abuses of
the strict process for committal to the asylum, the misuse of patient labour, the
maltreatment ol palients, the misappropriation of stores and produce from the farm and
misconduct on the part of the warders. The personal nature of much of this attack,
however, suggests that the allegations made in the article may have been at least partly
vindictive, and consequently not well founded. A feature article appearing in the
Launceston Examiner in 1865 finds little cause for complaint in the conditions or
management ol the asylum35,

The only contemporary source originating from within the institution, which may be
used to address the allegations of inefficiency and corruption, are the writings of a Mr A.
Laing56, who was employed at the asylum as a wardsman between. 1856°and 1862. The
importance of this source is that it is a personal, not an official, accotint of conditions in
the asylum in the mid-19th century, and can thus be expected to be reasonably free of
bias. Further, as many of the patients would have been.lliterate, and most were suffering
from debilitating mental conditions, Laing’s personal.account of conditions inside the
asylum in the 19th century assumes an even greater degree of rarity and importance.
Laing states that, during his period of employment,

... wonderful changes and alterations were effected in that instutution, for the
comfort and benefit of the insane patients and also for the officers and attendants
who looked after them; all bolts iron bars and padlocks were nearly done away wit;h,
and panclled doors, iron=mummed locks and large glass windows substituled in their
stead, formerly theunfortunate creatures were kept nearly and treated as a menagerie
of wild beasts, cuffed and beat about by their keepers, and instead of effecting a cure
of the maladies, they were driven to the utmost despair and in many instances
became [viocious and savage . . . The Medical Superintendant, Dr Huston . . . is a
gentleman well qualified for the arduous and responsible duties he has to perform, he
is benevolent. atfable, courteous and gifted with great forbearance and patience, and
will not permit or suffer any of his subordinate officers to use the slightest violence or
threats on the patients. During the time | have served there T have known him dismiss
wstantancously both officers and wardsmen for using violence owards the

patients . . .

54 {bid., 10 December, 1847,
55 Launceston livaniiner 29 October, 1863,

56 Laing, A. |867. Memories and Narrative of Evenrs. Unpublished manuseript held in the non-
Government records collection of the Archives Office of Tasmania.
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When Parliament were sitting in 1854 one of the Honourable members
made a remark that the Lunatic Asylum at New Norfolk could be compared to
nothing els¢ but a bastille, and it ought to be burnt to the ground, as it was a disgrace
to a Chnstiun community, but I'll be bound if he has seen it lately he would be of a
different opinion . . . and [ am quite confident, it is kept as clean, and well ventilated
with pleasure grounds and walks tastefully laid out, for the use of the patients to
exercise themselves al their pleasure, and since they have a band of musicians
formed to amuse them . . , and the gentlemen of New Norfolk send them in plenty of
fruit in its season of all descriptions . . . and for one that recovered and turned out ten
or fifteen years hence, there is at least ten if not more that regain their reason and
return Lo society. They keep twelve of the very best milking cows to produce milk
and butter l'or their use, and a great quantity of poultry to lay eggs and everything
they partake of is of the very best quality, each have two suits of clothing and attend

divine service regularly every Sunday . . 7

Although Laing does not touch on issues of corruption specifically, Dr Huston’s

character and management of the asylum appear to beabove reproach, and the patients
are kept in as comfortable a manner as possible. Seme of Laing’'s comments do hint at
continuing problems with the quality of the convictwardsmen available to serve in the

institution, however.

One aspect of the management of the asylum which was a real cause for concern, but
which was not mentioned in any of the public attacks made on it, or Laing’s personal
account of conditions there, wascontinued overcrowding. The new wings added in 1840-
42 were now also crowded, prompting an edict [rom Governor Dennison in 1848 that all
invalids not in need of medical attention were to be transferred to an old soldier’s
barracks at Impréssion Bay, on the Tasman Peninsula38. Most of the patients went of
their own accord, but some refused. A letter [rom the Colonial Secretary to the Colonial
Surgeon on 4 May 184839 authorised force to be used against the dissenters, who were
eventually evicted, With the departure of these invalids, New Norfolk became exclusively
a mental instilution.

In 1849 Dr Brock was succeeded as Assistant Medical Officer by Dr G. F. Huston®0,
who was later to assume the role of Medical Superintendanl of the institution, when
administrative control passed [rom the Crown to the Colony in 1855. Meanwhile, the
institution continucd to be run by Dr Meyer, who had laken up residence in Mr Burnett’s

57 ibid., pp. 19-21.

38 €S0 24147 1615.

59 ibid.

60 Gowland, gp_cit., p +H



house ‘Frescalli’, adjacent to the asylum. The house passed briefly into Dr Meyer’s
ownership before being sold (o another private owner®1, but it continued in use as rented
accommodation for staff at the asylum, until it was purchased by the institution in 1861.

3.0 1855-85: Board of Commissioners

Since 1841, the treatment of mental patients in the colony of Tasmania had been
administered under the Lunacy Act (Act Viet. 10, No. 9) passed by the Crown in that
year. A commenlary by a Mr John Morgan of Hobart, on perceived inadequacies in this
act and in the administration ol the New Norfolk asylum, was printed, together with a
supportive editorial, in the Hobart Town Courier in 185562, Mr Morgan’s main
criticism of the act was that the clauses of the act relating to committal of patients were
too open to abuse by officials. His criticisms of the New Norfolkasylum included the
need for a proper system of visiting Commissioners to regularly inspect the asylum, the
continued use ol convicts as wardsmen, a lack of inquests.intothe causes of death of
patients and a lack of proper account keeping at the asylum. The editor followed Mr
Morgan’s comments with an appeal to the newly formed Tasmanian Legislature to . . .
take up these matters in earnest , . . as the New Norfolk asylum is presently to be handed

over to the colony . ., .”

Coming after the previous public attacks on the administration of the asylum in 1845 and
1847, which had also recommended the setting up ol a proper system of independent
inspection, these comments must have stirred the new Tasmanian Parliament into action.
When the asylum was handed over by the Home Government to the Colony on 18
October 185563, the Tasmanian Government immediately updated the old Lunacy Act to
form the Insane Persons Hospital Act 1858 (Act Vict. 22, No. 23) and placed the asylum
under the authority of a Board of Commissioners comprising:

Dr Officer New Norfolk

Dr Radford New Town

Dr Moore New Norfolk
DrTarleton New Norfolk Magistrate
Mr Hamplon Hobart

Mr Cramp Hobart

Mr Sharland New Norfolk

61 Colonial Times 27 December, 1853,
62 Hobart Town Courier 7 June, 18335,
63 LC PP No. |1, 1839,
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Dr Huston was also promoted to the position of Medical Superintendant of the
establishment. Dr Huston was to serve the establishment until 1880, when he was
succeeded by his assistant Dr Maclarlane, Dr Huston was to report to the Board, who in
turn reported to Parliament. The first report of the Board, for the period 1855 to 1858,
was tabled in Parliament in 1859, In this, both the land and buildings were described as
inadequate for the purposes of the asylum®+. A recommendation was made for the
purchase of an additional six acres of Crown Land and 20 acres of private land adjoining
the asylum. The former is most likely to have been the block immediately to the north of
the asylum marked “Barrack Ground’ on the 1833 survey map of the township (see

Fig. 3), and the latter is most likely to have been the blocks to the northeast fronting the
Lachlan Rivulet, and occupied by “The Parsonnage’, Mr Burnett's house ‘Frescatti’ and

Mr Sharland respectively.

It was some lime belore these recommendations were [ully acted upen, however, and
most of the actual land purchased was further removed [tom the asylum than envisaged.
The house ‘Frescatti’, together with its three acres ol land, was purchased for the sum of
£1,000 in 186163, saving the institution the cost of renting the quarters for the Medical
Superintendant, but incurring a cost of £300 for renevations in the following year®6.
Two further purchases of 10 acres each were made in 186267 and 186768  respectively,
The latter included a cottage.

An 1883 survey map of New Norfolk (Fig. 8) shows the holdings of the asylum as 1ts
original 11 acres, the three acres including *Frescatti” and a total of approximately 33
acres on the eastern side of the Lachlan Rivulet, bounded by Mill Brook Road,
Humphrey Road and Pelhamm Road, and bisected by Glebe Road. It is most likely that the
two individual purchases ol 10 acres each made in the 1860s are included in the total of
33 acres attributed tothe asylum on the eastern side of the Lachlan Rivulet by 1883. A
slightly earlier, undated survey map of New Norfolk®?, identifies the previous owners of
parts of this land as W. S. Sharland, a member ol the Board of Commissioners
(approximately [ive acres), the Rev. W. Jerrard (approximately five acres), a Mr Wallon?
(approximately 10 acres) und Thomas? Bell (approximately 10 acres). The Annual

64 ibid.

65 LC PP No. 5, 1862,

66 1.C PP No. 10, 1863 (Session 2).

67 ibid.

68 1.C PP No. 15, 1868,

69 Lands Office of Tasmania N 12, New Norfolk. This map is undated, bul probably dates to the
1860s or 1870s, [is poor condition prevented aceurrate reporduction.
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the Rivulet, on its way 1 Joha Terry's flourmill on the bank of The Derwent River,
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Report of the Board of Commissioners [or 188670 notes the total holdings of the
institution at 48 acres, a slight discrepancy with the 47 indicated by the 1883 survey map.

On the purchase of this new land across the Rivulet, the gardening and animal husbandry
activities previously carried out adjacent to the asylum were removed across the Rivulet.
This both freed up valuable land for expansion of the buildings of the asylum, and
allowed for a considerable expansion of the scope of agricultural and pastoral activities
carried out at the asvlum. Following the purchase of the second 10 acre block in 1867,
substantial farm buildings, including a barn and cow sheds were erected in 186871, and
the cottage included with the purchase of the land was used to house a farm overseer
employed by the institution. By 1893, 30 acres of land were under cultivation 72, much
of this still irrigated by channels cut from a millrace supplying water to a flourmill, built
in the early 1820s on the southern bank of the Derwent River by John Terry73 (see Fig.
8).

In addition to expansion of the land occupied by the asylum, the period of administration
by the Board of Commissioners, from 1855 to 1885, alsa saw major expansion and
upgrading of the buildings ol the asylum. However, it seemed that, despite the always
valid and pressing need for the works argued in-the Annual Reports of the
Commissioners, this expansion was always/inthe face of opposition to the required

expenditure on the part of the Government: This served to slow the process immensely.

By 1860 the Board had improved conditions for the patients in the buildings with minor
alterations including: upgrading the lighting and ventilation in the female wards, erecting
a separate kitchen and storereom for the female division, converting the small cells in the
male division of theasylum into larger wards, erecting a 150ft-long by 12ft-wide
verandah around the internal wall of the male side of the enclosed courtyard, removing
the high wall across the open end of the U - shaped courtyard and removing the dividing
wall in the enclosed courtyard7+.The addition of the verandah around the internal wall of
the enclosed courtyard had been recommended as long ago as 1836 in a report by the
Colonial Surgeon, Dr Arthur (see above).

70 LCIHA PP No 8, 1887

71 1.C PP No, 7. 1869,

72 1 C/HA PP No. 23, 1894.

73 The millrace is shown on a survey map of the New Norfolk area duaed February, 1826. Lands
Department of Tasmania, 10 Buckingham.

74 LC PP No. 6, 1861
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In 1860-61, the wing extending from the main asylum building in the ‘Female Division’
was extensively renovated, with the construction of a new day room for communal
activities, measuring 60ft x 32ft, a 60ft x 19ft communal ward, and six small wards7>. A
new kitchen, bath-house, laundry, drying room and matron’s quarters were also included
in the renovations (see Fig. 9). Recommendations for a communal hall to hold worship
services in, and a new kitchen and bake-house for the ‘Male Division’, with the old
kitchen to be converted into a bath-house, were also made in the Annual Report for 1861,
The request for funds for the construction of a chapel was a repetition of a request made
as long ago as 1833 in the report of a Board of Inquiry into the State of the institution (see
above).

The construction of the verandah around the internal walls of the enclosed courtyard that
had begun in the “Male Division’ in 1860, was extended into the ‘Female Division’ in
186276, This was 202 feet long and 10 feet wide. Another minor redovation that
occurred in this year was the conversion of the rooms formerly oecupied by the head
keeper into a ward, which allowed the separation of what were known as ‘“idiot’ boys into
their own ward.

In 186377, the conversion of the small cells, shown'on Archer’s plan of the asylum (see
Fig. 4), into larger, communal wards, that had taken place in the Male Division prior to
1860, was also carried out in the Female Division. This work carried over into 186478,
The conversion of the old kitchen, at the rear of the Male Division on Archer’s original
plan of the asylum (see Fig. 4), inte.a-bath-house, and the construction of a new kitchen,
which had been recommended by the Commissioners two years previously was also
begun in this year, to be completed in 186679. As the asylum was the only receiving
house for mental patients in Tasmania, the Commissioners also recommended the
construction of a cottage to house female patients of a “superior class”, to remove the
necessity of them having o mix with those of the “lower classes”. A similar cottage for
“superior class” mule patients had been constructed by 185980 (Plate 2). This request
had to be repeated in 186581, and again in 186682, before the money was forthcoming to

75 LC PP No. 5, 1862.

76 LC PP No. 10, 1863 (Session 2).

77 LC PP No. 23, 1864,

78 L.C PP No. 3, 1865.

79 LC PP No. 3, 1867.

80 Cyclopedia of Tasmdnia 1901, vol. |, Maitland & Krone, Hobart. pp. 220-21.
81 1.C PP No. 4, 1866.

82 1 ¢ PP No. 3. 1867.
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igure 9: Plan of the New Norfolk Asylum in 1883, (rom the first Report of the Official
visitors (Archives Office of Tusmunia, LC/HA PP No. 48). The plan was drawn by the
~olonial Architect, W. Eldndge, und includes proposals for demolition and new
anstruction, lollow g the report ol a Royal Commission into the institution in 1883
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begin construction in 1868-6983 (Plate 3). The location of these buildings is shown in
Figure 9. The costs of the patients in these two cottages were borne by fees paid by their
relatives, which made them self-supporting in terms of the funding of the asylum.

The Annual Report tabled in Parliament for the year 1864 contains a long description of
conditions existing in the asylum when it was taken over by the Board of
Commissioners in 1853, and the improvements in conditions made to date by the
CommissionersB+. [t is worth quoting at length for its insight into the facilities available
and approach towards treating the insane at New Norfolk in the'mid-19th century,

The Hospital was placed in charge of the Commissioners in October 1855, when
they found its condition very far behind that of similar institutions in the mother
country. The internal accommodation of the several buildings were small, badly
constructed, ill ventilated, dark and dismal . . . The yards and grounds were sub-
divided by high walls, and the spaces allotted for exercise and outdeor recreation
were of the most limited character. In the Female Division®,, . the pauents were
crowded to the number of 100 in two small yards of less thaa quarter of an acre
each. In the Male Division . . . the quiet and convalescént patients being confined to
the limited space in front of the Hospital, the unquiet to two small enclosed yards,
together not more than hall an acre in extent, and these closed in and deprived of
all cheerfulness . . . There was absolutely\o-provision for the separate
accommodation and treatment of patients from the better classes of society.

Amusements of any kind'a$ a feature in a curative system of treating the
Insane appeared never o have been thought of . . . And while there was an utter
want of cheering or mellifying influences inside the Hospital walls, the patients
were never taken outside them, unless it might be in the exceptional cases of men
belonging to a warking party going out lo some kind of labour.

The principle of the reaunent of the patients was generally one of
coercion, which in the case of the excited or refractory was carried out by the
familiar resort to the strait waistcoal.

Generally the state of things which has been described has given place to a
different one. The old dark and dismal cells have been mostly pulled down, and
cheerful, airy sleeping-places buill on their site, Large, well-lighted and ventilated
day rooms and corndors have been erected. Verandahs have been added to both Male

and Female Divisions . Walls have been pulled down to throw open the

83 1.C PP No. 7. 1869.
84 L.C PP No. 5, 1865.



Plate 2: The Gentlemens” Cotuge constructed by 1859 and photographed in the early
1900s. The photograph was printed in the Yusmanian Mail of November 22, 1902
(Archives Oflice ol Tasmania).
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Plate 3: The Ladies” Cotlage built in 1868-69 and photographed in the carly 1900s. The
photograph appcared in a pictorial leature on the New Norfolk Asylum, published in the
Tasmanian Mail ol November 22, 1902 (Archives Ollice of Tasmania).
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whole of the grounds in each division respectively to the patients, and these have
been tastefully laid out in flower gardens, walks, grass plots &c . . .

A commodious cottage lias been erected for the better class of male
patients, containing six good sleeping apartments . . .

Amusements progressively inereasing in their variety have been
introduced; at lirst dancing parties . . . Music followed. a good organ having been
obtained from England . . . The visits ol professional persons to New Norfolk have
been taken advantage of whenever it could be consistently done, by having
performances within the Hospital walls; and summer walks and pic-nics have
helped to dispel the melancholy to which the Insane are prone when Kept in cne
unvarying routine of life . ..

Books, pictures, domesticated birds, and other animals that can be
conveniently cared for, are introduced into the establishment with a view of calling
out the latent faculties and kindlier feelings of the patients; and in those instances
in which a musical taste exists, 1f it can be inexpensively gratified, provision is
made for its indulgence . . .

Divine Service is attended by nearly all the patients; and it is graiifying
to state that it is participated in by very many in a’manner which evinces their
sense of its solemn import . . .

The general effeet of the changes wliich have been introduced in the
management of the Hospital has been mosvencouraging (o the Commissioners, and
such as to mduce them to relax no éxertion o conform the institution, as closely as
circumslances and the means witlin their reach will enable them to do, to the
example of kindred institutions in Europe in which improvement has been carried
farthest. They have found that a humanising system of treatment has tended to prove
day by day thatmetheds which did not harmonise with such a system are as
unnecessary as they are harsh. General gquietude and contentiment prevail, and even
in the refractory wards acts of violence are exceptional, whereas they were at one
tume of almost daily occurrence, and the necessily for restraint or seclusion has
diminished o msignificance. Personal restraint 15 unknown unless in the case of
patients of violently destructive propensitics, for whom a jacket 15 used with loose
but continuous sleeves . . .

But the Commissioners are lar [Tom desiring Lo represent the stute of the
institution as realising all that they should wish it (0 be. They have urgently
represented o the Executive Govermment the necessity of a similar provision to that
which has been made for the better class of males being also provided for the
corresponding class of females - . - Ttis the duty of the Commissioners to renew their

representution on this subjeet o the Executive; the demand which they make may
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be postponed but it cannot be averted . . . This subject was brought under the notice
of the Executive Government so long since as in 1859 . _

With the very inadequate funds placed at their disposal, the
Commissioners have in the past year removed the ill-ventilated cells in the Female
Division, and erected in their place airy and cheerful though, unavoidably, small
rooms . . . The Commissioners understood that a sufficient sum had been set apart
for the erection of a new kitchen and the conversion of the present one into bath
rooms, also for the removal of the latrines in the front division. But they
subsequently learned with regret that the sum available was not sufficient for these
and for other improvements averted to in their report for 1863, and they therefore
urgently press that they may not be overlooked in the ¢nsuing session of Parliament.
The Hospital will be defective in primary requirements while it remains without
good bath rooms, und the apparatus for hot and cold water as well as shower baths,
and while proper accommodation is wanting for the keepers and attendants;
especially in the Female Division, and also for the large supply. of stores which it is
necessary (o keep on the spot for an establishment which is tipwards ol twenty miles
inland.

The last paragraph in particular, illustrates that, while the Commissioners were able to
make much progress in modernising those aspects of treatment which did not require
much money o implement, they faced considerable reluctance on the part of the colonial
administration Lo allocate funds for even minor capital works. The Commissioners’
efforts were thus effectively hamstrung by their own bosses.

In instituting all of these changes for the better treatment of patients in the asylum, the
Board had been influenced in no small way by one ol its members, the Roman Catholic
Bishop of Hobart, R.W. Wilson. Immediately on his appointment (o the Board, Bishop
Wilson inspected the asvium and wrote to the Colonial Secretary on 8 March 185985
informing him that he had,

... long been impressed with the unfitness of this place as a curative hospital
[original cmphasis], or one at all svitable for alfording that comfort even the
incurable have a right to receive . . .

To expect that a fair proportion of cures should be affected in such a
dismal place, fit only for a prison house for the worst class of felons, would be as

unreasonable as 1o expect grapes on (horns.

85 LC PP No. 10, 1859 (Correspondence).



41

asylums around the colonies, such as Yarra Bend and Ararat, in Victoria, Tarban Creek
(now known as Gladesville Hospital) in New South Wales and Woogaroo in
Queensland, cotlages were added to existing asylums to emulate the ‘Pavilion System’ of
accommodation?0. A proposal by the Visiting Inspectors of the New Norfolk Asylum to
construct cottage wards on the ‘Pavilion System’ in their 1886 report?1, was considered
too expensive, however, and with the exception of the Ladies’ and Gentlemens’ Cottages
constructed in the [860s, this philosophy ol accommodating the insane was fully
implemented at the New Norfolk Asylum until the construction of the separate, dispersed
wards of the Royal Derwent Hospital, in the 1960s.

Following the complction in 1869 of the cottage for “superior class” female patients92, a
recommendation was made by the Board for a separate building for ‘idiot” boys, the
number of which must have outgrown their quarters within the main asylum building.
The parsimonious response of the Govemnment was to suggest their.femoval into the
cottage formerly occupied by the Assistant Medical Officer. Thissuggestion was carried
into effect in 187073

A rebuttal of concern expressed by the Government regarding steadily rising running
costs of the institulion. vccupied much of the Anntial Report of the Board tabled in
187024, The Commissioners went to great lengih)to demonstrate that the running costs
of the New Norfolk Asylum, calculated per patient, actually compared very favourably
with a large sample ol similar institutions in England, America, Europe and Australia
(Appendix 1). The weekly maintenance per patient was calculated al 10s 91/,d.

The Annual Report lor 1872 again focussed on Government concerns about the high
running costs of the institution?5. A continually high admission rate per head of
population in Tasmaniu, 'exerting a continued pressure on available accommodation at the
asylum, was explained by the Board in terms of the high proportion of “lower class”
elements in Tasmanian society. This generalisation is not elaborated on at length in the
Commissioner’s reporl, but it is clear that they were referring to the high proportion of
convicts that had been transported from the bottom strata of English society to Tasmania.
The colony could thus have been expected to have hud a relatively high rate of the mental

20 ibid., pp- 123-27.

91 LC/HA PP No. 8, 1887,
92 1. PP No. 7, 1870.

93 1.C PP No. 7, 1871.

94 ibid.

95 LC PP No. 6, 1873.
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illness, as these strata were held to be more prone to such afflictions by virtue of their
poor diets, poor living conditions, restricted access to medical facilities and the hard
labour which was their lot.

The continuing high rates of admissions forced the Board to recommend lurther
extensions (o the lemale accommodation and extensions to the Gentlemens’ Cottage in
187896, A new dormitory was added to the [emale accommodation in 187997, but the
request for extensions to the accommodation in the Gentlemens’ Cottage had to be
repeated until funds were finally voted for construction to be uridertaken in 188198,

These additions to the buildings barely kept pace with admissions, however, and
overcrowding continued to be a problem, as atlested by the Commissioners in the 1881
Annual Report for the asylum??. In this year another problem caused by a shortage of
money for the institution surfaced again. In 1876, it had been necessary 1o increase the
wages of the male atlendants to prevent a drain of labour to the tin.mines in the north-
west of TasmanialU0, A further increase was [ound necessafy in 1881; up to £46 p.a. for
male attendants, and £40 p.a, for female attendants,

After the persistent pressure of the Board of Commissioners for improved and extended
accommodation [or patients of all classes at the’asylum, a Royal Commission to Inquire
into *. . . the present condition of asylums {orthe insune” in Tasmania was appointed by
the Colonial Government in 1882101, Updn the visit of the Royal Commission to the
asylum in 1883 the Board reported-to.it that: all of the buildings at the asylum were in
poor condition and overcrowded, with the laundry, bath-houses and stores deficient in
space and appliances, there was a shortage of secure accommodation for both males and
females, the attendayt’ s\quarters were deficient for both males and lemales, and
accommodation for'the Assistant Medical Officer and *idiot” boys were urgently
required102,

The report ol the Roval Commission was delivered in 1883103 The general findings of
the Royal Comnussion were that,

96 LC PP No. 3. 1879

97 LC PP No, 5. 880

98 L C PP No. 5. 1882
99 ibid.

100 1 ¢ PP No. 5, 187"
101 1 PP No. B, 1883
102 1. PP No. 7. 1884
103 L PP No, 43, 1883,



The site at new Norfolk appears to be, in many respecis, admirably suitable . . . But
the asylum enclosure itself is neither so attractive and pleasing in appearance as it
should be, nor it so extensive as it requires to be to afford scope for those
amusemenis, recreations and occupations which the medical fuculty regard as
desirable, if not necessary, for the mental improvement and recovery of the

insane , ,

The buildings at New Norfolk, with some exceptions, are of a very
unsatistactory character, being in many respects ill-adapted for the purposes for
which they are used . . .

Finally, as regards the buildings . . . at new Norfolk, we must express our
strong conviction that the efficiency and success of the treatment adopted is very
much hindered and lessened by the impossibility of properly classifying the

patients . . .

The main recommendations of the Royal Commission were that new male and female
‘Refractory’ buildings, to accommodalte an extra 100 patients should be erected, that
much of the 1833 asylum quadrangle should be demolished; that a new ‘idiots’ asylum
should be built and that a new kitchen, laundry and administration block should be built.
These proposed changes are illustrated on an 1833 plan that accompanied the 1886
Annual Report for the asylum (see Fig. 9). The proposed ‘Refractory’ buildings, ‘idiots’
asylum, kitchen and laundry were constructed over the following years, although the
location of the new male ‘Refractory’ building was different to that shown on the 1883
plan (shown as Wurd B in Fig. 11). The new administration block was not built unti]
¢.1940, and the 1833 asylum guadrangle was not demolished until 1965.

The Government acted/Onthe report of the Royal Commission by appointing a Select
Committee to furtherexamine conditions at New Norfolk10%. The findings of this
Commuttee subslantiated the findings of the Royal Commission, but went further in,
unjustly, appointing blame to the Board of Commissioners, and recommending the
construction of a new asylum in Hobart. The Commissioners replied by demanding
another enquiry be held before impartial authorities on the treatment of the insane from
the mainland 193, The report of this enquiry!06 placed responsibility [or the poor
condition and overcrowding of the New Norfolk Asylum squarely back on the

Governmenl,

104 1.C PP No. 12, 1883 (Session 2).
105 1.c PP No. 7. 188+
106 ¢ PP No. 38. 1584,
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In many parts the buildings are in bad condition of repair and this, as well as the
want of fittings and of appliances for serving meals etc., induces us to think that an
unwise parsimony has for some time been exercised in the control of the

institution . .

Their [the Board of Commissioners] recommendations with regard to the
buildings and also to the wages of the staff and other matiers have not received
immediate atlention or been approved by the Government . . .

Some [stalf] are in bad health, others old and infirm and many are drawn
from a class whose services would not be accepted in the neighbouring colonies for

the discharge ol such responsible dulies . . .

Many of these criticisms of the deficiencies in the [acilities and administration of the
asylum were repeated in the public arena in a lengthy feature article by the Correspondent
of the Tasmanian Mail, in 1888107, The third Inquiry had recommended an expenditure
of £30,000 to rectily the problems at the asylum. Predictably,.a lesser sum of £12,000
was voted in 1885108 for major renovations and additionstothe asylum, including, a
new ‘idiots’ collage, a new administration building and two new buildings for what were
termed ‘refractory’ patients. ‘Refractory’ patients were-those who were violent and
uncontrollable, and who consequently had speeial requirements for their accommodation,
such as a higher degree of security and separation [rom other classes of patients. This
class was to have a separate building foreach sex. Based on the lindings and
recommendations of all three inquiries, this amount was far [tom adequate 10 address the

long-term problems al the asylum.

In addition to the new buildings, there was to be a major change in the administration of
the asylum. The secand of the three recent inquiries had cast doubt on the effectiveness of
the system ol the Board of Commissioners in administering the asvium. Given the
difficult circumslances they had been working under, particularly regarding lack of
funding, this criticism was perhaps unwarranted, but the Commissioners had made
themselves unpopular with their continuous and outspoken criticism of Government
fiscal poliey in administering the asylum and a new svstem ol administering the asylum

was instituted in 1883

107 Tasmanian Varl 4+ & 11 February, 1888.
108 1 c/HA PP No. 7. 1886,



4.0 1885-1937: Visiting Inspectors

Legislation to abolish the Board of Commissioners was passed by the Government in
1885 (Act Vict. 49, No. 35), and their executive power was transferred o the
Superintendant of the asylum, who had been Dr Maclarlane, since 1880. Dr Macfarlane
served as Superintendant until 1915. The role of the Board was taken over by Visiting
Inspectors appointed by the Government to conduct regular inspections of the asylum.

The first news the Inspectors had to report was that construction had begun on the new
separate ‘idiots’ building, located in the northern corner of the asylum complex (see

Fig. 9), in 1886109, and the new female ‘refractory’ building in 1887110, The ‘idiots’
building was completed in 1888111 (Plate 4), and the female ‘refractory’ building in
1889112 (Plate 5). Construction did not begin on the new male ‘refractory’ building until
1891113 and this was completed in 1893114 (Plate 6). The propased.Jocation of the two
‘refractory’ buildings is shown in Figure 9, however the location of-the male building
was moved prior Lo construction (it is shown as Ward B on«a 1940 plan of the asylum
complex, Fig. 11).

Another change made at the asylum at this time yvas the closing in 1890 of Grey and
Burmett Streels o public access, where thesepassed the usylum (see Fig. 9). This was
done to prevent the nuisance of sightseers and curious members of the public upsetting
the patients in the asvlum with their “gawking"115. The public esplanade along the
Lachlan Rivulet was closed in theTollowing vear for the same reason 116,

Also in 1890 the Inspectors.recommended that a teaching program be instituted at the
asylum for the training.of the patient attendants in the care of mental patients117. This is
the first mention in‘any of the records of the institution of any form of specialised
training {or the non-medical staff at the asylum. It was to take the lorm of a series of
lectures and examinations delivered by the medical stull at the institution, with progress
through the program bringing higher rates ol pay for the atlendants.

109 [ C/HA PP No. 8, 1887.
110 L.c/HA PP No. 9, 1888,
111 LC/HA PP No. 6, 1889.
112 | c/HA PP No. 7. 1890,
113 [ C/HA PP No. 10, 1892,
14 1 c/HA PP No. 23, 1894
115 1 C/HA PP No, 9, 1891.
116 Lo/HA PP No. 10, 1892,
117 L.CIHA PP No. 9, 1891,



Plate 4: *Idions” bunlding constructed 1886-88. This photograph was published i a
pictorial feature on the New Norfolk Asylum i the Yesmanian Maif of November 22,
1902 (Archives Oflice of Tasmania),
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Plate 5: Phowgraph ol the Female *Refruciory” Building, construcied 1887-89, published
in a pretoral featie on the Asylum in the Tusmanian Mail ol Oclober 3, 1896 (Archives
Office of Tusmania).
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Plate 6: Photograph of the Male *Relractory” Buillding, constructed 1891-93, published in
a pictonial feature on the Asylum in the Tasmanian Meail of October 3, 1896 (Archives
Office ol Tasmaniu)
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The year 1891 saw the [urther expansion of the landholdings of the institution!18, with
the purchase ol the cottage ‘La Maisan’, opposite the asylum, on the western side of
Humphrey Street (see Fig. 9). ‘La Maison® was to be used as a convalescent home for
women. A [urther purchase of adjoining land was also made in the area that had been
formerly occupied by ‘“The Parsonnage’ (see Fig. 9). The total of these acquisitions was
approximately 17 acres, and brought the total area of land occupied by the institution 1o
65 acres.

Although the money voted for new buildings at the asvlum as a result of the 1883
Inquiries had been well and truly spent, many of the needs identified by these inquiries
still had not been met. One of these was for the construction of a new steam laundry and
kitchen complex to serve the whole asylum. Additional funds were finally voted for this
in 1891119, but construction did not get underway until 1901120, A 1940 survey plan of
the asylum complex (Fig. 11) shows this occupving the northern and eastern sides of the
old asylum quadrangle built in 1833. In addition to this development, the new dormitory
buildings had not completely solved the overcrowding and'elassification problems of the
asylum, prompting the Inspectors to recommend the addition of a second wing to the
recently completed Female ‘Refractory’ Building, intheir 1894 report121. Delays in
obtaining the necessary Government [unding meaat that construction of this also did not
begin until 1901122 In addilion to these new buildings, the asylum was able to benefit
from the use ol locallv-generated electri€itylor heat and light for the first time in
1902123 Previously, heat had been supplied by piped steam from the boilers supplying
the kitchen and laundry, and light had been supplied by oil lamps. The asylum was not
connected to the Tasmanian hvdre-electric grid unul 1922-23124,

Between the vears 1895--1901 and 1902 - 1910, there were no Annual Reports of
Inspectors tabled. in Parliament, however, their 1911 report again speaks of overcrowding
at the asylum. THi$ was due, in part, to the fact that, since the closure of the Port Arthur
penal establishment in the 1870s, a large number of insane convict persons from there
had been housed in the asylum at Cascades, in Hobart125, but this was closed in 1890
and the remaining patients were transferred to New Norfolk; now the sole asylum

118 1. C/HA PP No. 10, 1892,
119 ik,

120 Lo/HA PP No. 55, 1902,
121 o/HA PP No. 67, 1895,
122 | C/HA PP No. 55, 1902,
123 ibid.

124 [ o/HA PP No. 34, 192324,
125 Gowland, op. ik, . 106
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operating in Tusmunia, The [nspectors also made recommendations for more
accommodation [or both sexes, and a communal recreation hall126, The Inspectors also
report on the construction of a new nurses’ home (Plate 7). The location of this is shown
in Figure 9.

Following the recommendations made in their 1911 report, the Commissioners made
more detailed recommendations on the [uture building requirements of the asylum in
1915127 Their recommendations included:

An Administration Block;

A Recreation Hall;

A Central Kitchen with Mess Hall;

Male and Female Sick Wards; and,

Male and Female Admission Wards.
The recommendation [or an administration block dates to the Inquiry.of the Royal
Commission in 1883 (see above). The Inspectors also proposed thatan additional
purchase of land be made from “Millbrook Estate”, located.on the northeast side of Mill
Brook Road (sce Fig. 9).

The recommendation for the purchase of “Millbrook Estate” was repeated in the
following vear!28, and another request for pew buildings, including: admission wards,
convalescent wards, operating theatre, laboratory and recreation hall was made in the
Inspectors’ 1917-18 report129, withoutany action resulting. It seemed the change in
administration in 1885 had not solVed'the problems in the running of the asylum, it had
merely highlighted where the realiproblem lay; a lack of financial support for the
institution on the purt ol the Government.

Some planning [or{tttire expansion of the asylum was evident in 1919-20, however,
when 345 acres Wwere purchased from the “Millbrook Estate”130, Plans for some of the
proposed new buildings were drawn up but reduced funding as a result of the First
World War considerably delayed construction131,

126 [ C/HA PP No. 33, 1912,
127 L oHA PE Na 511916
128 1 CIHA PI' No 46, 1917,
129 | C/HA PP No. 38, 1918,
130 1 c/HA PP No. 29, 1920-21.
131 L. C/HA PP No. 29, 1921-22.
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the institution. The dropping of references to mental diseases and insanity with the name
changes to Lachlan Park Hospital, and later Roval Derwent Hospital, reflect an attempt to
distance the instilulion from the sacial stigma that attached to these terms, and possibly
from some ol th. less socially palatable aspects ol the history of the place.

Some of the chuanges in identity of the place can also be linked to the many changes that
took place in the udministralive structure of the institution. As noted above, the institution
was controlled directly by the Governor's Olfice of the colony, as the representative of
the Crown in Enclund, until 1855, after which time the Board of Commissioners was
introduced as the administrative agent of the newly formed Parliament of Tasmania, who
assumed conlrol vl the institution from the Crown. The replacement of the Board of
Commissioncrs v ith the Visiting [nspectors in 1885, also saw administrative control of
the institution puss to the Charitable Grants Department of the Tasmanian Government.
Therealter, administrative control of the institution was passed to the Public Health
Department in ['¥13_ the Hospital for the Insane Department in 1907, the Mental
Diseases Hospil. ! Department in 1915, back to the Public Health Department in 1920,
the Division ol Mental Hygiene in 1945, the Division of Mental Health in 1956, the
Division of Psychiutric Services in 1963, and finally la the Hospital’ s own Board of
Management in 1968. With the exception of the Jast ehange, these changes were really
only changes in 1ame ol the same, or related‘bodies, although the legislation relevant to
the administralicn ol the institution wasalsg tipdated several times. In 1915 the Insane
Persons Hospitals Act 1858 (Act 22 Viet, No. 23) was augmented by the Mental
Diseases Hospilils Act 1915 (Act®Geo., No. 8). In 1937 the 1858 Act was finally
revoked.

In addition to many administrative changes in the mid-to late 20th century, the asylum
complex was Lo ~co dynassive expansion and modernisation program in its facilities and
buildings. Many i the old buildings of the asylum were renovated, some were
demolished and sthers were added. In addition, the many buildings ol the Royal Derwent
Hospital Complex, which eventually occupied much of the 345 acres of the “Millbrook
Estate”, were constructed. The decision to undertake this massive expenditure was in
response o the | -9 report of a Parliamentary Standing Committee on Public
Works!30, w e 1 concluded that,

coothe cany e [al New Norfolk ] under which many of the patients are housed and
the stall ko« o work are reminders of the worst [eatures of penal institutions of a
cenlury ur Voo g,

136 Gowland, o L, ppleles.
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and reco:  1ended the erection ol @ new scrvice block as the lirst step in the construction
of aproj - »d new hospital, Records ol this phase ol expansion are to be found in dated
construc' 1 and renovation plans produced by the Public Works Department of
Tasmam:. .

The first ol the new buildings on the eastern side of the Lachlan Rivulet, which were
eventual» o [orm the Royal Derwenlt Hospital, were a new boiler house, workshop and
kitchen. .unn 1952-53, and completed by 1954-1955, Their location is shown in
Figurc | lemporary Kitchen building [rom the Royal Derwent Hospital was brought
intoser i~ a kitchen while the new kitchen was being built. The temporary building
was con ¢ cd in 1973 to serve us the Industrial Therapy Building for the western, or
Willow rt(WC), campus (Fig 13).

The firs  the wards for the new Royal Derwenl Hospital (RDHY eampus, Wards 1 and
2, were  structed in 1957 (Fig, 13). Each was designed to hwuse a maximum of 30
patient: i those in Ward 2 comprising “chronic” cases«Thefollowing vear, another
ward, W 3, was constructed o house “epileptic’ patients. Wards 4, 5, 8 and 9 were
added i 1539 (Fig. 13). Ward 4 was designed to house“epileptic’ patients, while Wards
5,8and ) cre designed for ‘chronic’ patients” A new nurses’ home was added to the
RDH i sin 1961 (Fig. 13) the old wufsest home on the WC campus, being

converlh I the use of male st T L the mslitution.

Some ol ' old buildings on the WC cunipus were modernised in 1964-65, including
the Lad:  + ottage and Glengra! (ouse The old Ladies™ Coltage building was now
reserc the use of adelescerits of both sexes. A new building was also added to the

WC cair | . knownassAlcheringa (or Myrile) House, designed to house children (Fig.
13).

A numl ;i | the old buildings o1 the WC campus were also demolished at this time (see
Fig. 12) 11 response to the reports ol twu separate inquiries conducted in the early 1960s,

both of * 1 ~h [ound the condilion ol these buildings unsuitable lor the continued

habitat patients138, The old Gentlenmens' Cottage, Male Relractory Building,
Femalc ' 1.ictory Building, Mauon™s Quurters and Lhe rear quadrangle of the original
asylum "o ding were removed (0 mnake coom for new constructions. The old Nurses’
Home - so=cheduled for demolinan but this was retained [or the use of male staff.
137 gxe. vhere otherwise noted. thie post 1247 constiruetion history ol the asylum complex 1s

n : y p
derived [« dated plans archived in (e Plan koom of the Departinent ol Public Works, Tasmania.

138 Gou | op. it pp. 171-77
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Mostol 1+ erounderol the L. cowr asing the RDH campus were constructed in
1965-66 1rolud ng: Ward 6, Lo chrome cases, Ward 7 lor refTuctory * cases requiring
ahighe! | ol of security, Weud L0 Tor il ractory” cases, Ward 11 for “chronic’ cases
and Wu ich housed 10 g Cward, some o! o clerical ind nursing
adminitl w0 lerecepion i uedr o records, and the Lospilal plarmaey (Fig. 13).
Other b 1 ings constructed o 0 RDE _ampus in 1965-0& ineluded: an occupational
therapy o1 patient’s amenes cenue laundry, chapel sind a store building (Fig. 13).
Further | oo Isooceurred o1 the Wi campus in 1965 68, including the construction

of anev ~ wunidm securily bios ko fon toales, known as Allonah House (Fig. 13),and a
new ma* rium sceurity block |y males known as Carlton House, involving use of an
earlier <11 turc. built sometiny belore 1940, and shown on the 1940 plan of the

institul, Y od C(see Fig 1 Our changes included new hospilal block, known
as Lypr Flouse.anew wat o saow o Lachlan House construckdl ihythe area left

vacant I e demoliion of the 1533 as (um quadrangle. the buildingused as a [emale

hospital v known as Olga -inuse. war extensively renoy ved and o new school,

patient’ centre and « b herapy cenlre s €onstiu ted (Fig. 13). The
years 1Y < asaw the con oneen Lol a housptg e cloprient " Turrilf Lodge’,
built fo: 1. Hew th Departmen oo the RDHEeamipus ind the Now' Norfolk-to-
Hobart (1] 13). Wark ¢ nuce o thigthreughout he 1970s,

Unfortun s Lostausties oot g wlition, admussion s, death raies or recovery

rates arc i\ ulable with which o resgthe T ectiveness ol the new RDH hospital complex

asabet!~ v iroment for the afabmer 1 menta illness. over the old hospital complex.
Howey i ndication @I\l 1 sperly designed buildings in the effective
treatmc i nsanc. aehie A ctant 1ssue throizhout the cative history of the
institut i eoRfrom st es ool ed from Annual Reporis o the period 1855

to 1943 pencwNg)!

The rau vothoan the pati v v Lol the institd s shown n Figure 14. After
asharpr- u iy late 1850s. e 0 tution was takcr over by the Board of

Commi - < herale ol i e s relatively stead;, reflectn 2 steady growth in
the poy Tusmayis. vinerease (1 ient popo!tion at the asylum
that pre Wosonbinuab Ui wiston of the © o es ol e asylum. The fact
that the »  ulation growth rale <onaiie - jatively constatin lso stiengthens the argument
thatexp' 11 we for sudden. ay o chan o the recovery rate of palients may be found

elsewht Coowmprovere © oo e ldings and laclities at the asylum.
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gure 13: Phun of the Ronal Derwent Hospiiul and Willow Court campuses in 1993,

«owing proposals [or future development of the comples, involving demolition of

much of the Ronval Deyw ent Hospital campus and some of the later buildings of the
fillow Cotil cumpus, Wit st of the older buildings 1o be retwined (Ganley 1993139),

139 Ganles, AL ("3 Ay
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No. Patients

Figure 14: Growth of the patient population of the New Norfolk Asylum, 1855-1943.

This steady rate ol increase is also reflecled in the statistics [ornew admissions for the
period (Fig. 15). The sharp increase from the 1930s can belinked to the construction of
the four new accommodation blocks Derwent, Esperence, Franklin and Glenora Houses.
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Figure 15: Growth in patient admission Lo the New Norfolk Asvlum, 1855-1943,

The statistics l'or changes in the recovery rale of patients at the asylum can be closely
linked to the episodes ol new construction und improvements in patient conditions
discussed ubove, The peak in 1855 may be attributed to the takeover ol the institution by
the Board ol Commissioners, and their introduction ol a system of treatment aimed
towards actually curing the patients. Subsequent highs through the 1860s and 1870s, late
1880s and 1890s are suggestive that the ncw buildings erected by the Board during these
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periods were having a beneficial elfect in the patients housed in them. The significant rise
in the recovery rate from the 1930s again correlates to the four new accommodation
blocks built at this time. The low in 1881-82 would have provided much fuel to the
recommendations of the 1883 Royal Commission, and subsequent inquiries, for
improved accommodation at the asylum. [t may have been expected that, with the
construction of the new hospital in the 1960s, and the demolition of some of the old, a
further signilicant increase in the recovery rate would have been evident.

Recovery Rate
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Figure 16: Changes to the recovery rate uf patients, expressed as a percentage of the total
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Figure 17: Changes in the death rate ol paticnts, expressed as a percentage of the total
patient population. at the New Norfolk Asvlum during the period 1855-1943.
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The death rate [or patients ut the asylum remains more constant than the recovery rate,
although a slight downward trend hints at gradually improving conditions for the patients
throughout the history of the New Norfolk Asylum, as the population was steadily
increasing. The death rate was probably less influenced by improvements to the buildings
and facilities at the asylum than the recovery rate, as there would always have been a
certain proportion of incurable patients, who would have lived out their entire lives at the

asylum.

6.0 1968-Present: Royal Derwent Hospital

The name Royal Derwenl Hospital was granted to the new institution by Royal Decree in
1868, and was accompanied by a trunsler ol administrative control tom the Government
Department of Psychialric Services to the institution’s own Board ©f Management,
giving the institution a high degree ol autonomy in its affairs, while it still relied heavily
on Government [unding. The new Royal Derwent Hospital incorporated the old Lachlan
Park Hospital complex on the opposite side ol the LachlanRivulet.

Following these administralive changes, consteuction activity at the new asylum complex
slowed [rom its peak in the 1960s. Much.of’ the work carried out in the 1970s consisted
of renovations le some ol the older buildings, und ulterations to some of the newer
constructions. Wards 8 and 10 on the RDH campus had minor alterations made to them
in 1971 and 1972 respectively, as did Bronte House and Esperence House, on the WC
campus. The building thal had heused a temporary kitchen while the new one was being
construcled in the 1950s¢+was converted into an industrial therapy workshop for the WC
campus in 1973. and\in 1974 Franklin House and Glenora House were extensively
rennovated, with Derwenl House following in 1976-78. Some restoration work was also
carried out on the 1830 hospital building, now known as *Willow Court’ in the 1970s,
but a plan lor its complele redevelopment as an administrative centre lor the complex

was shelved.

The last major construction at the complex was a new Nurses' Education Centre, built
adjacenl to the “Millbrook Rise” building in 1980 (Fig. 13), while the program of
upgrading ol the wards conlinued throughout the 1980s. Lyprenny House, on the WC
campus, had alicralions made 1n 1980, and Wards 5 and 11 on the RDH campus were
also upgraded al this time, Further renovations were made to the *Willow Court’
Building in 1981, In the lollowing vears the Nurses” Home on the RDH campus was
converted 1o holse patients, with the nurses presumably now living olT-campus,
Esperence House and Lachlan House. on the WC cumpus, had allerations made to them
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and Wards 1, 2, 10 and 12 on the RDH campus were upgraded, The last major work on
the complex was a renovation of Alcheringa (or Myrtle) House, on the WC campus, in
1990.

Following the recent development of the philosophy of community-based care for mental
patients, most ol the patients at the Roval Derwent Hospital have now lelt o be
incorporated back into the community. Only a few now remain in the oldest buildings of
the complex, on the western side of the Lachlan Rivulet. The new hospital built on the
eastern side of the Rivulet in the 1960s now lies almost entirely deserted, awaiting some
form of redevelopment.

7.0 Construction Chronology

The information presented in this summary of building activity at New Norfolk Asylum
is extracted from the history of the usylum presented aboye. [n-the historical discussion,
the buildings are located on plans of the asvlum, drawmin1830-33, 1883, 1940 and
1993. These plans are reproduced (o the same scale imthis summary o illustrate

graphically the process ol development ol the insutution.

7-1830
- Original invalid barracks, exact logation unknown.

1830

- New invalid hospital constructed.

1833

- New asylum buwilding attached 1o new invalid hospital.

1834
- Construction ol “Frescatli’.

1840-41
- New wing added Lo female side of the asylum building.

1842

- New wing added 10 male side ol the asylum building.
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1859
- Recent completion of the Gentlemens™ Cotlage.

1860

- Completed upgrading ol rooms in the female section of the asylum building.

- Front wall removed to open out the [ront yard of the invalid hospital building.

- Separate Kitchen and store room lor female division erected.

- In the male division, the cells on the north side of the back yard converted to apartments
opening onto a corridor, with a 150t x 12ftverandah attached.

- The dividing wall in the back courtvard of the asylum building removed.

1861

- A new day room 60ft x 32[1, 60ft x 19ft ward and six small rooms dttached to north
side of main building in the [emale division.

- A maltron's collage erected in the central area ol the main bullding.

- New kitchen, bath-house, laundry, dryving room and store inthe female division

completed.

1862

- A verandah 202t long and 1011 wide l'or the'female division of the main building
completed.

- The quarters [ormerly occupied by the head keeper are converted into a separate ward
for ‘idiol’ boyvs.

- The Superintendant's quarters, *Frescutll’ are extensively renovated.

1863
- Conversion ol the old wooden cells in the female division of the asylum building.

1864
- Completed conversion ol old wooden cells in the lemale division.

1865
- New kilchen in the male div 1sion nearing complelion, with the conversion of the old

kitchen into a male bath-house in progress,

1866
- New kitchen in the male division completed, with the conversion of the old kitchen into

amale bath-house nearing completion.
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1868
- Construction of Ladies’ Collage commenced.

- New barn, cowsheds and other [arm buildings erected.

1869
- The Ladies™ Cotlage compleled.

1879
- A new dormitory is constructed in the lemale division.

1881

- Six bedrooms, two sitting rooms and a bathroom are under construction at the

Gentlemens’ Collage.

1886
- Construction 15 begun on a new “1diots’ cotlage,

1887
- New ‘idiols™ collage nearing completion.

- Construction in progress on new [emale,'rélractory’ building.

1891
- New male “refractory” building tommenced.

1892
- New male ‘relractorny™ building nearing completion.

1893
- New male ‘refractory’ building completed.

1901
- A second wing lor the recently completed [vmale “relractory’ building under
construction,

= New steam laundry and Kitchen progressing.

1911

- A new nurses’ home in the course ol construcuon.



1913
- New nurses’ home completed.

1928-29

- Two new dormitory buildings [or male putients in the course of construction on the site
of the old recreational ground (Derwent and Esperence House).

- “Millbrook Rise” set up as a hosiel for mental patients.

1935-36
- The two new male dormitory buildings nearing completion (Derwent and Esperence
House).
1936-37

- The two new male dormilory buildings compleled (Derwenl und Esperence House).
- Construction on two more male dormitory buildings, adjacent te the two just

completed, begun (Franklin and Glenora House).

1939
- Franklin and Glenora House completed.

€.1940
- New Administration Building ereeted on the WC campus.

1953
- New Boiler House, RPH campus.

1953

- New Boiler House, RDH campus.

- New Kitchen Block, RDH campus. A temporary Kilchen building Irom the Royal
Derwent Hospital was brought in o serve as a Kilchen while the new Kitchen was being
built. The lemporary building was converted in 1973 1o serve as the Industrial Therapy
Building lor the WC campus.

- New Workshop Building and Garuge, RDH campus.

1954
- New Builer House, RDH canipus.
- New Kitchen block, RIDH caipus,
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1955
- New kitchen block, RDH campus.

1957
- Construction ol Wards | and 2, RDH campus.

1958
- Construction ol Ward 3, RDH campus.

1959
- Construction of Wards 4, 5, 8 and 9, RDH campus.

1961
- Construction ol new Nurses’ Home, RDH campus.

1964

- New Mixed Adolescent's Block (Lachlan House), WC campus.

- New Children's Block, (Ward M/Alcheringa HousefMyrtle House), involving use of
existing structure.

- Renovanton of Ward G (Glenora House), W€ Campus.

- Demolition ol old buildings on WC campus, including Back Division of Willow Court,
Male Cottage, Male and Female Relractory Buildings and Matron's Cottage.

1965

- Construction ol Wards-6,7, 10 und 11, RDH campus.

- New Medical Admipistration Building and Admission Ward (Ward 12, RDH
campus).

- New Occupational Therapy Centre, RDH campus.

- New Patienl's Amenities Centre. RDH campus.

- New Store Building, RDH Campus.

- New Female Muximum Sccuniiy Block (Ward A/Allonah House), WC campus.

- New male maximum security hlock, (Wurd C/Carllon House) WC campus, involving
use ol existing struclure.

- New Children's Block, (Wurd b Alcheringa House/Myrtle House), involving use of
existing structire, RDH campus.

- New Mixed Adolescent's Block ( Ward L/Lachlan House), WC campus.

- New Laundry, RDH campus,
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- New Chapel, RDH campus.

- New Hospital Block (Lyvprenny House), WC campus.

- New Medical Administrauon Building and Admission Ward (Ward 12, RDH
campus).

- New Qccupational Therapy Centre, RDH campus.

- New Female Maximum Security Block (Ward A/Allonah House), WC campus.

- New male maximum securily block, (Ward C/Carlton House) WC, involving use of
existing structure. -

- New Patient's Amenities Centre, RDH campus.

- New Children's Block, (Ward M/Alcheringa House/Myrtle House), involving use of
existing structure. RDH campus.

- Renovation ol l'emale hospital ( Wurd O/Olga House), WC campus,

- New Patient’s Activities Centre Building, WC campus.

- New Occupational Therapy Building, WC campus.

- New Laundry, RDH campus.

1967
- New Hospital Block (Lyprenny House), WCeampus.

- Construction ol Ward A (Allonah House), W.C campus.

- New Patient's Amenities Centre. RDH campus.

- Five houses [or TurrilT Lodge housing 'development, RDH campus.
- New Chapel, RDH campus.

- New Laundry. RDH campts:

1968

- Construction ok Ward A (Allonah House), WC campus.
- New Hospital Block (Lyprenny House), WC campus.

- New Chapel, RDH campus.

- New School, WC campus.

1969
- Five addiwonal houses Lor the Turnl1 Lodge housing development.

- Alterations 1o the Old Nurses™ Flome.

1971
- Alterations o Ward 10, RDIH cumpus.
- Alterations (0 Ward B (Bronte Flouse), WC campus.
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1972
- Upgrading of Ward E (Esperence House), WC campus.
- Reconstruction of Ward 8, RDH campus.

1973
- New Industrial Therapy Waorkshop, WC campus. This involved the conversion of the
old Temporary Kitchen Building, moved 1o the site in 1953,

1974
- Rennovations to Ward F (Frunklin House), WC campus.
- Renovations o Ward G (Glenora House), WC campus.

1975
- Restoration of the south-west pavilion ol the *“Willow Court’ building.

1976
- Renovations to Ward D (Derwent House), WC campus.

1977
- Renovations to Ward D (Derwent House); WiC campus.

1978
- Renovation ol Ward D (Derwent House), WC campus.
- Restoration work to the verajidahs of the *Willow Court’ building.

- Turmilf Lodge housing delelopment continuing.

1979
- Turrifl Lodge housing development continuing.

1980

- New Nurses’ Education Centre, “*Millbrook Rise™ campus.

- Restoration work to the central block of the *Willow Court’ building.
- Alterations to Ward H (Lyprenny House), WC campus.

- Upgrading of Wiurds Sand | 1. RDH campus.

1981
- Renovations o doors and windows ol the “Willow Court’ building.

- Renovation ol the central block of the “Willow Court” building.
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1982
- Conversion of Nurses' Home 1o patient accommodation, RDH campus.

- Alterations to Ward E (Espcerence House), WC campus.

1983

- Upgrading of Ward 1, RDH campus.
- Additions to Ward 2, RDH campus.
- Upgrading of Bailer House.

- Conversion ol Nurses” Home (o patient accommuodation, RDH campus.

1984
- Additions to Ward 2, RDH campus.

- Conversion ol Nurses’ Home to patient accommodation, RDH campus.

1985

- Upgrading ol the sprinkler systems, ventilation and lighting i the ‘Willow Court’
building. This involved some demolition ol existing structures.

- Alterations Lo Ward L (Lachlun House), WC canipus.

- Alterations and additions o Wurd 10, RDH gampus.

- Additions to Ward 2, RDH campus.

1986
- Additions to Ward 2, RDH cunipus.
- Alterations and additions 15 Ward 10, RDH campus.

1987

- Restoration to the external linishes of the *“Willow Court’ building.
- Alterations and additions w Ward 10, RDH campus.

- Additons 1o Ward 2, RDH campus.

1988
- Alterations Lo Ward 2, RDH campus.

1989
- Alterations o Ward 12, RDH campus.

1990
- Renovution ol Myrtle House (W ard M Alcheringa House), WC campus.
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8.0 Individual Building Histories

This section contains information presented in the history and construction chronology of
the institution, above, arranged according Lo separate sections [or each building.
Additional information is added |rom dated Public Works Department Plans, and from
Ganley 1993, Information is presented only for those buildings presently on site.

Roval Derwent Hospital Campus

Ward 1

Constructed 111 1957 ['or 30 patienis, this was the lirst of the new single-storey wards of
the Royul Derwent Hospital Complex. [t has been signilicantly upgraded since, with the
addition of two solariums in 1983,

Ward 2

Constructed in 1957 as a ward [or 30 *chronic’ palients, this.ward has not been upgraded
since and retains its original appearance throughout. Additions to the building were made
in 1983-87.

Ward 3
Constructed in 1958 to a single-storey plan. This ward was dedicated to the care of
‘epileptic’ patients.

Ward 4
Constructed in 1959 to asiimilar design us Ward 3, this ward also housed epileptic
patients.

Ward 5
Constructed in 1959 to house “chronic’ patients, this ward shares the same design as
Ward 2.

Ward 6
Constructed in 1965 to house “chronic” paticnts. As with Ward 5, this ward has a similar
design Lo that of Ward 2.

Ward 7
Constructed in 1963, this building was designed as a secure ward 1o house ‘refractory’
patients. The butlding Inis since Seen madilied slightly by subdividing the day-room, re-

organising Lthe wards and re-arraaging the duly olTice.
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Ward 8
Constructed in 1959, this building is another *chronic® ward, similar to Ward 2. This

ward was renovaled in 1972,

Ward 9
Built in 1959 to house ‘chronic™ patients, this ward is again similar in design to Ward 2.

Ward 10
Built in 1965 as a securc wurd [or ‘refractory’ patients, this building has the same design
as Ward 7. Alterations to this waurd were carried out in 1971, 1980-81 and 1985-88.

Ward 11
Another ‘chronic’ ward built in 1965 to the same design as Ward 2. It was later used as a
substitute while the New Norlolk District Hospital was being upgraded.

Ward 12

Constructed in 1965-66. This ward houses the 'Admission. Ward', some of the clerical
and nursing administration, the reception area, medical records, and the hospital
pharmacy, in addition o 16 putients. The pharpracy was a later addition in 1968-69.
Further alterations were curned outin 1989

Nurses' Home
Constructed in 1961, this four-stdrey building houses 33 residents. It was converted to
patient accommodation in 198234,

Social Ameniiies Cenire
Constructed in 1963-67. this building houscs u 260-seat theatre, gymnasium, dining area,
kitchen, library and 25m open-uir swimming pool.

Laundry
Constructed in 1966-67. this building consisted of extensive remodelling of an earlier

laundry building.

Kirtchen
Constructed in 1933-35 und roimovited i 1967,

Occupational Therapy Centre
Constructed in 1965-66.



Boiler I ¢

Construc « ' in 1952-54 on the + L H caunpus, this building replaced un earlier boiler
house [0 1 «d in the rear of the 523 usy lum building. Allerations to improve the coal
supply i ash o posal sysic 21C mude in 1961, 1965-66 and again in 1983. No. 1
Boiler v icpluced in 1968w <. 2 Boner in 1970. The location ol the old boiler
house al 11w rear of the 1833 as um building represents the only significant possibility
forsite ¢ aminotion at the hee pital complex, through fuel residues remaining buried

on-sile. Wlan House curren'l weuples this location.

Mainie ¢ Workshop and ¢ roge
Builtin 3, thi building w.r wdded ©in 1964-65 and |980-83, with extensive
renovali nelu ing reroolln eing wdoutin 1972 76.

Central rey
Built in 5

Chapel
Construcl i 1956-68 as a niui | denonuuationalplaee of worship [or the patients.

Millbro is¢ Cnipus

Millbroc ! Vise Hosiel

Anolder  use redeveloped vp+923-20 1 hostel for 34 patients, Lthis building is
situaled v proundse 0 e Tkm [rom the Royal Derwent Hospital

comple*

Millbroe hite i Sl Centtre
Constru i stras anurser ¢ lucdln centre,

Willow irl Carpus

Allonal. ) il A)

Constru o as-oBus oAl ard for femal.  refracto) s’ patients. Its
design [ | waihotolaprison b s cell-like rooms with small-paned windows.
Bronie (M 1w B)

Constrt . o ik Dudlad g “imbeceiles’.  norren  auons carried out in

1971.
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Carlton I 'rise ( \Ward C)

Constru
war d l.(l
rebuilt 1,

Derwel
This 1w
renovl

Esperen
Conslru

extensive |

Franklir

COHS[I'LJ
in 1974.

Glenoro
Conslru
exlensn

Lypren
Conslru
extensiv

Ward .J
The g1
1903. T

listed by |

modern

Lachlai
Constru
patient:

Alcherii
Constru

dierind 1940, this © west orick building wus designed as a high security
le liwtory” patic Is el i exercise yard atlached. 1t was extensively
i63-00, making use ! e os 1 ing structure.

tive  Weprd 1)

wid for niad | constructed in 1937 any substasitially
i YT T8,
Henve Ward 1)

I Toa sl purpose as Derv ent House. This building was

upgraded in 1972 4 ) 982
e Werd 1)
! e 1l el 1939, this building was c.iensively renovated
e\ ared €7)
TARTRSTIY ' purpose as Frenklin Hoose, this building was
Crene ded i 1964 a1 S i1974-76.

tasti ol Hoste! (0N

‘ -8 Uk i L™ Nl ck of multibed wards, this building was

dlicred in 1980%ul T v als Louses physiotherapy [acilities.

Lhes bl /868, with a scuond storey being added in

Ll was bt i vhigh standard of finish (hroughout, and is

Nancial Trust It ol o o was as the *Ladies’ Colluge. Some

aevearmed oui o [960 0 the rool was repaired 1n 1970,

N ! rel L)

ey | 196413 ul comprises muiubed wai o for auolescent
Suilig re made in 19575

Ideani Myvrtle He oo Yy oV

Wy 1" G3-00 and b 1w 90, this builduii, house: . child:on’s ward.
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Olga House (Ward O)
Originally constructed 1886-85 us an ‘idiots” usvlum, this building was being used as a
female hospital by 1940. It wus extended 1n [966.

Male Residential Building

Constructed in 191 1-13 as a nurses” home, this lwo-storey building retains one of the
more aesthetically pleasing external appeardances ol those in the hospital complex. It was
altered in 1970, and now houscs male stall.

Support Program Building (formerly Hospiial School)
Constructed in 1968 as a school. this building currently has an administrative function.

Residents' Activities Centre
Constructed in 1966, this building originally relaled to the adjaceni@ceupational Therapy
building. The building is now let on a long-term basis to the lacal Free Masons.

Rehabilitation (Industrial Therapy)

This building originally functinned as a temporary Kitchen for the Roval Hobart Hospital,
and was transferred Lo the Royval Derwent Hospricthin 1953 lor the same function, while
a new kitchen was being built on the RDH ¢ampus. [L was converted in 1973 to house
occupational therapy equipment l'or joinety and carpentry.

Rehabilitation (Occupational |hérapy)

Constructed in 1966, this building houscs space lor light industrial work, in addition to
doubling as space [or entertainment and social activities [or the patients in the high
security Allonah andhCarlton Houses.

Administration Bililding
Constructed in 1940, this two-storey brick building has a hall/gvmnasium attached to its
rear, which now scrves as addilional oflice spuce, al'ter alterations carried out in 1966-67,

Group Homes (10)
Ten of these were built in 1967-69 to a standird design to house up to 4 patients.

Willow Court

Originally constructed in 1830. this building 1s clussilied by the National Trust and is
listed on the Regisicr of the Nutional Estate. [1is historically significant as the oldest
mental institution huilding remuining in Austalbia. [n the 1960s a series of plans were
drawn up for the complete renoy ation ol Lhis building. but this never went ahead. Instead
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piecemeal maintenance works have been conducted on the south-west pavilion in 1975,
the verandahs in 1978, the central block und the doors and windows of the building in
1980-81, and the cxternal finishes in 1987, The sprinkler system, ventilation and lighting
were also upgraded in 1985. The building was originally designed as an invalid hospital.
An asylum building attached to the rear ol the bujlding in 1833 was demolished in 1965.

‘Frescatti’
Constructed in 1834, this cottage formed the Medical Superiniendant’s Residence
associated with the hospital and asylum. '

9.0 Statement of Significance

In managing herituze places, the assessment ol cultural significance of a-place is the basis
for formulating munagement policy and recommendations for thatplace. The assessment
of cultural significunce is in turn based on whether the site salisfies criteria in certain
categories. The calcgories used 1o assess the cultural significance of the New Norfolk
Asylum below are bused on those used in the Tusmanian Historic Cultural Heritage Act
(1995). These catevories are bused closely on those delined in the ICOMOS Burra
Charter and used by the Australian Heritage Commission.

1. Does the site demnonstrate sighificautaspects of the pattern and evolution of

Tasmanian history”

The fact that the Now Norfolk Asylum has retained ils use as a mental institution from
the late 1830s to Lhe present, means thal 1s has the longest conlinuous history of any
mental institution in Australia. The fact that buildings have been added to the institution
continuously througzhout this long history, und very lew of these have been removed or
substantially altercd. mean that the physical record ol the development of the institution
retains an unusualls high degrec of integrity. This means that the institution is highly
significant in beiny able to demonstrate patterns in the evolution of the philosophy of
building for the insune, from the ‘Linear’ asylums ol the early 19th century, through the
‘Cottages’ of the luter 19th century, to the “Puyilion System’, which was finally
implemented at Now Norlolk in the 1960, 1 he inllucnce of the convict system is also
detectable in the curly architecture ol the asyvium. New Norlolk is the only place in
Tasmania where these developments in building l'or the insane are preserved ina
continuous sequenve and, with the possible excepuon of parts of the Gladesville Hospital
in Sydney, the only place in Australio.
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2. Does the site demonstrate rare, unconunol or ehdangered aspects of Tasmania’s

historic heritage?

The New Norfolk Asylum buildings are the only [ully preserved mental institution
buildings remaining in Tasmamia. The asy lum building at the Port Arthur Penitentiary
remains as an incomplete shell only, while the Cuscades Asylum has only archaeological
traces remaining. While parts ol" 19th-century mental institution buildings are preserved
in other places in Australia, at the Gladesville Hospital in Sydney, for example, the New
Norfolk Asylum is rare and highly signilicant as the only example of an entire 19th

century mental inslitution preserved in its orgmul lavout and setting in A ustralia.

3. Does the site have the potential to yield inforination contributing to an undersianding

of Tasmanian hisiory?

Through its rich documentary record, the New Norlolk Asylum hasthe potential to
contribute to an understanding many aspects ol Tasmania’s)and Australia’s history,
including: changing philosophies [or the carc and housing of mental patients, from
merely housing them to actually attempting Lo treal dnd eure their illnesses; changes in
Government provisions for the care of the menially ill, from the control of the English
Crown, to control by the Tasmanian Parlianient, 1o semi-autonomous institutions; the
development of Tusmania’s health system. hvom its origins as part of the convict system
to public hospitals; und changes in publictattitudes o the mentally ill, from providing a
spectacle to “gawk’ at to public cancern lor their proper housing and treatment.

4. Is the site representative of ihe characteristivs of u class of heritage places?

Because of the length and continuity ol the history of the New Norfolk Asylum, and the
high degree of completeness of its historic [ubric, the place was, and is, unique in its own
right in the historyv of Tasmania, and Australia. The place is therelore in a class of its
own.

5. Does the site contain aspecls of creative or (¢oinical achievement?

The buildings ol the New Norlolk Asylum presen e uspects ol the theory of design of
early 19th-century convict barracks buildings. in their [tont-entry style, constructed
around the internal walls of a courtyard. They ulso preserve an unbroken record of the
development of theories for treating and housing the insane, [rom the 1830s to the

present.
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6. Does the site have social, cultnral or spiritnal associations for any cultural group?

The asylum at New Norfolk has a special signilicance lor many Tasmanians, Since the
1830s, the asylum has been supplied with stull [rom the township of New Norfolk, and
despite the unfortunate nature of the association, muny ex-patients and their families

retain a strong personal link to the place.

7. Does the site have an association witl any person, group or organisation important
in Tasmanian history?

The architect responsible for the design ol the carliest buildings at the asylum, John Lee
Archer, was influential in the development of early Tusmanian architecture, The
remaining section of the 1830s asylum building represents one of the few remaining
examples of his work, and of early Tasmanian institutional architeeture.

Statement of Cultural Significance

In summary, the long, continuous history ol the NgwNeorfolk Asylum, and the high
degree of completeness of the physical lubric ulthe place means that the institution is
highly significant in being able to demonstrdigithe evolution of the philosophy of housing
and treating the insane throughout the 19th and 20th centuries. The philosophy of
building for convicts 1s also detectablein'the carly architecture of the asylum. New
Norfolk Asylum is unique as the only pliace in Australia where these developments in
asylum design are preserved ina.continuous sequence and in their original layout and
setting. The New Norfolk Agylum is thus nationally significant lor our understanding of
changing philosophies forthe care and housing ol mental patients. in addition to our
understanding ol ¢hanges in Government proy isions [or the care of the mentally ill, the
development of Tasmania’s health system wnd, changes in public attitudes to the mentally
ill. The place also has significance for the people of the township of New Norfolk, and
the many ex-patients and their families who retain a strong personal link to the place.
Finally, it is one ol the few remaining exumples ol the work ol the important early
Tasmanian archilect, John Lee Archer.
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Appendix One

Comparison of running costs ol New Norlolk Asyvlum with other asylums in England,
Europe, Americua and Australia (LC PP No. 6. 1872).

COMPARATIVE Cont of Maintenance of Inanna Patients,—[From I, nru by Dr. Maxnixo, New .

South Wales, Dr. Patiy, Victeria, and Dr. Patrenson, Sowth Australia,
No. of Weekly " No. of W aekl)
ASYLUM. HPattenta, |AMainteaunce. ASYLUM. Patimla Hnuuu'uu
£ 8 £ 1 4
Bristol, Boraugh, 1B0T.iveiain cunn. wil 012 v | Dafanl and Jarks, County, 1887 ....| 473 010 4
Casrmarthen, l'uunly,dlun sasinsas 5 014 4 |t hoahlre, it ceveorrinianernnnans| 474 001
Hull, dieto vouiianans IPEILF A A 1€ 0 U 6 |Sonerset, it oyeunana. sanes] €9 o0 3
&nﬂbzd. New, lltto ... 1Y 0 U 11 | York, N. luding, ditta ..., 40 010 8
Glamorpen, Mk cuvvaviaionsnnann, w7 011 & |lincoln, diten ...ue,eo,.. ea] 0 SU2 o 8 8
Cumberland, dittn.covaas b=} 010 0 |Humsex, Witws &1o 09 4
Northumbe: lnml ditta. 275 010 2 |lods,, Herta and Hunte , difto . FA7 0o 8 7
Cambrid 0, ditws ... = 0 0 % | Worenster, ditto ..ou.. a0 080
Bucks, 3 0 0 0 | Fasex, it ....uc. - &4 o010 3
Dowblgb dmh rA PO - 1 ) | 0 ¥ 0 | llrminghan, Borol o7 07 8B
Nottingham, dltwo .couien. « Lilsl, LT 0 8 # | Illants, County, 188 o 0B 5
Derby, ditId -cvecsnanscninia nnnae Mz 0 0 11 | lilouerater, ditta -o---.-u. €%0 0 8 8
ﬂuﬂ'n{k, ditts - ... cesasaas 1a 0 B # | Lancashire, ftalnllll, di 857 0 810
Norfulk, ditts . couiainn 342 0 8 8 |Devon, AT, S il 60 09 8
Durham, €6 cccavavansn 2,3 0 0 # |Kent,dlin L. i, i ianin,.,. 755 010 8
Leiceater, ditta «ovuvuean. o i 0 8 & | Lancaster, Meor,ditto.....oivvens..| B35 o 710
Cornwall, ditte cc.ovunen.. ¥ 0 B8 9 aumy.ull’ Vesscosaanaas 014 08 ¢
Warwick, ditte -.... e bvis il 0 B 10 | Lancsaldre, I'restwick, ditta . D62 00 4
Dorset, ditte ~oovvrovnonan. sl &5 0 7 1 | York, W. Rtifing, ditta ., spanseassa]. 1124 0 810
Wilts, ditte..... ' ‘2 0O 8 U Hafwell, Glits .. ooonea.. sobs Lae| 10 010 1
Salup, ditts ... J e 0 0 7 |Coloey Hutrh, ditlD coounoyuarnen..| 2005 010 2
Monmouth, difte ....o.., ... P (5% 0o n reland,
Btaffurd, O, ity ceuvrsvieionn,, I . 0 Bl "|Avornge la IBG0 was ...l - 0o0o
Scotland, Frauce, ‘
Perth Distriet, 1mii5 . vuniiiiinainan — 0 U ¢ | Quatrs Muras — 07 3
Fife and Kinfoes, ditloee v caniianaas -_ 0 9 ¢4 |¥ Yon —_ T 0
addington, Wt Vos brvadapbnen - 0.0 n |8t Anne” - 012 0
Moatrose, Royal coivnnnacian — 0 8 0 |Villo Erran -— 0 786
Glasgow, Pauper, 1860 .oovtiviness — 010 U |Evrosux icovaevsescrsssannsssses - T X
America. 3 Germany.
Wanhingtan, 180 ..o siianianann. . - 1 010 [ Hambirg cociereennrnccnansaniras - 070
New Jersey, (il coinieaas e\ — 010 M | Peankfitt coivieanrannnes . — 01l 8
Masanchureis, I sevvincisiacine - 0156 0 nlllllnsﬁn cisssssmezisnams —_ D 8 o
Now York, iltu  .osasaccoidtn - 018 M | Meerenlwesg - N 08 B
Peoaylvania, ditbioooe s O voee - VA — 015 U [UHalslalns iccesaisasssinsinsenaa -_— 06 3
(Hxclunive of Raluries of Hadmnl
Officers and (‘bl;:h.lm )
AUaTkAllaL
Parramatta, Sew Syuth Wales, 1470, - 011 a Tarmania_ =
Gladeaville, dittn - ocvuruciaccsan wn 012 A | New Norfollt, 1871 «o.aveninananea] 272 010 Dt
Tarban, ditto, 188 ceevinvaccacncas i 010 1 | O, dedneting Poes pald .. .. ..... sas — 081
Molbuurne, Victurin, 1870 ..., ... ve| 140 013 2 .
Awﬂ,dlnn....... ...... Tesvreeas 340 014 11
Carltan, ditto .. 1m 013 v
Beschwarth, dum % ¥n 013 {4
Adelaide, Snuth A\ulrllll. 1870 PRp— 04 —
Parkside, dittn ;vevuvcvrsirrneansas] 104 011 4§
Or deducting Vees, utlullu uf house
rent .. yssiiana i seneeds bl svdud — 010 i




Appendix Two

Patient population data for New Norfolk Asylum beiween 1855 and 1943. Extracted
from the Annual Reports of the institution.
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